
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
COUNCIL 

AGENDA 
 

(ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING) 
 
 
 
 

 
Wednesday 23 July 2014 

 







 
 

The Mayor Councillor Mercy Umeh 
Deputy Mayor Councillor Ali Hashem 

 
ADDISON 
 
 
Adam Connell (L) 
Belinda Donovan (C) 
Sue Fennimore (L) 

HAMMERSMITH  
BROADWAY 
 
Michael Cartwright (L) 
Stephen Cowan (L) 
PJ Murphy (L) 

RAVENSCOURT PARK 
 
 
Charlie Dewhirst (C) 
Lucy Ivimy (C) 
Harry Phibbs (C) 
 

ASKEW  
 
Lisa Homan (L) 
Caroline Needham (L) 
Rory Vaughan (L) 
 

MUNSTER 
 
Michael Adam (C) 
Adronie Alford (C) 
Alex Karmel (C) 

SANDS END 
 
Steve Hamilton (C) 
Robert Largan (C) 
Jane Law (C) 
 

AVONMORE & 
BROOK GREEN 
 
Hannah Barlow (L) 
Joe Carlebach (C) 
Caroline Ffiske (C) 
 

NORTH END 
 
 
Daryl Brown (L) 
Larry Culhane (L) 
Ali Hashem (L) 

SHEPHERDS BUSH 
GREEN 
 
Andrew Jones (L) 
Natalia Perez Shepherd (L) 
Mercy Umeh (L) 

COLLEGE PARK & 
OLD OAK 
 
Elaine Chumnery (L) 
Wesley Harcourt (L) 
 

PALACE RIVERSIDE 
 
 
Marcus Ginn (C) 
Donald Johnson (C) 
 

TOWN 
 
 
Andrew Brown (C) 
Viya Nsumbu (C) 
Greg Smith (C) 
 

FULHAM BROADWAY 
 
 
Ben Coleman (L) 
Alan De’Ath (L) 
Sharon Holder (L) 
 

PARSONS GREEN AND 
WALHAM 
 
Nicholas Botterill (C) 
Mark Loveday (C) 
Frances Stainton (C) 

WORMHOLT AND  
WHITE CITY 
 
Colin Aherne (L) 
Sue Macmillan (L) 
Max Schmid (L) 

FULHAM REACH 
 
Iain Cassidy (L) 
Vivienne Lukey (L) 
Guy Vincent (L) 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 



 

SUMMONS 

Councillors of the London Borough of 

Hammersmith & Fulham 

are requested to attend the 

Meeting of the Council on 

Wednesday 23 July 2014 

at Hammersmith Town Hall, W6 

 

The Council will meet at 7.00pm. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14 July 2014 

Town Hall Nicholas Holgate 

Hammersmith W6 Chief Executive 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Full Council 
Agenda 

 
23 July 2014 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.  MINUTES  
 

137 - 146 

 To approve and sign as an accurate record the Minutes of the Annual 
Council Meeting held on 16 June 2014. 
 

 

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.  MAYOR'S/CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)  
 

 

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or 
any other significant interest which they consider should be declared in 
the public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the 
nature of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that 
item or as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor 
must then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.   
 
 
 
 
 

 



5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS (20 MINUTES)   

 The Leader/relevant Cabinet Member to reply to questions submitted 
by members of the public: 
 

 

5.1  QUESTION 1 - LANCE PIERSON  147 

   

5.2  QUESTION 2 - NNAMDI E.S. OKOYE  148 

   

6.  ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION/COMMITTEE REPORTS 
  

 

6.1  INTERIM BUDGET REPORT  
 
At the Annual Council Meeting, action was taken towards addressing 
the gap by reducing Special Responsibility Allowances by 10% and 
ending the practice of paying Councillors multiple such allowances.  
This report sets out further early steps proposed for 2014/15. Ensuring 
a healthy surplus is achieved in 2014/15 will put the Council in a better 
position to meet future budget gaps. These proposals include reducing 
spend in the general fund by £3,998,000 against the 2014/15 budget 
and in the HRA by £108,000.  The report also removes a charge for 
burials at 24 hours notice. This is an early result of an ongoing broad 
review of the fees and charges levied by the Council.  
 

149 - 153 

6.2  REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION - IN YEAR 
REVISIONS  
 
This report recommends some further amendments to the Constitution.  
 

154 - 193 

7.  SPECIAL MOTIONS  
 

 

 To consider and determine any Special Motions: 
 

 

7.1  SPECIAL MOTION 1 - LABOUR'S MANSION TAX  194 

   

7.2  SPECIAL MOTION 2 - TRADE UNIONS  195 

   

7.3  SPECIAL MOTION 3 - HOMES FOR RESIDENTS NOT OVERSEAS 
INVESTORS  

196 

   

7.4  SPECIAL MOTION 4 - CUTTING WASTE AND DELIVERING 
BETTER VALUE  

197 

   

7.5  SPECIAL MOTION 5 - FULHAM BOYS SCHOOL  198 

   

7.6  SPECIAL MOTION 6 - SAVING OUR HOSPITALS  
 

199 



   

8.  INFORMATION REPORTS - TO NOTE  
 

 

8.1  SPECIAL URGENCY DECISIONS - MONITORING REPORT  
 

200 - 201 

   
 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

. 

  
 

 
 

 

COUNCIL 

MINUTES 

 
(ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETING) 

 
 
 
 
 

MONDAY 16 JUNE 2014 
 
 

Page 137

Agenda Item 1



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
.   

 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 

The Mayor Councillor Mercy Umeh 
Deputy Mayor Councillor Ali Hashem 

 
Councillors: 
 
 
Michael Adam 
Adronie Alford 
Colin Aherne 
Hannah Barlow 
Nicholas Botterill 
Andrew Brown 
Daryl Brown 
Joe Carlebach 
Michael Cartwright 
Iain Cassidy 
Elaine Chumnery 
Ben Coleman 
Adam Connell 
Stephen Cowan 
Larry Culhane 
 

Alan De'Ath 
Charlie Dewhirst 
Belinda Donovan 
Sue Fennimore 
Caroline Ffiske 
Marcus Ginn 
Steve Hamilton 
Wesley Harcourt 
Sharon Holder 
Lisa Homan 
Lucy Ivimy 
Donald Johnson 
Andrew Jones 
Alex Karmel 
Robert Largan 
 

Jane Law 
Mark Loveday 
Vivienne Lukey 
Sue Macmillan 
PJ Murphy 
Caroline Needham 
Viya Nsumbu 
Natalia Perez Shepherd 
Harry Phibbs 
Max Schmid 
Greg Smith 
Frances Stainton 
Rory Vaughan 
Guy Vincent 
 

 
1. ELECTION OF MAYOR  

 
7pm – Councillor Frances Stainton, as the outgoing Mayor, took the Chair at the 
start of the meeting. 
 
Councillor Colin Aherne, proposed, seconded by Councillor PJ Murphy, that 
Councillor Mercy Umeh  be elected Mayor of the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham for the 2014/15 Municipal Year. 
 
There being no further nominations, the proposal was formally put to the vote: 
 
 FOR     Unanimous 
 AGAINST       0 
 NOT VOTING   0 
 
The recommendation was declared CARRIED. 

Page 138



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
7.05pm RESOLVED: 
 
Councillor Mercy Umeh was duly declared Mayor of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham for the 2014/15 Municipal Year, following which she 
made the statutory Declaration of Acceptance of Office and signed the statutory 
undertaking to observe the Code of Conduct for Councillors. 
 
 
Under Standing Order 21 (d), the Mayor suspended the meeting while she put on 
the Mayor’s robes. 
 
The motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
(The meeting was adjourned until 7.16pm) 
 
The Mayor made a brief speech thanking the constituents of Shepherds Bush 
Ward for electing her and her fellow Councillors and her family for their support.  
She announced the nomination of Lupus UK, which supported people with 
systemic lupus and discoid lupus and assisting those approaching diagnosis, as 
her charity for the year. 
 
The Mayor announced that she had decided to appoint Mr Maxwell Linus Umeh as 
her Consort and Ms Frances Umeh as her Mayoress for the 2014/15 Municipal 
Year.   
 
The Mayor then announced that she had appointed Councillor Ali Hashem as 
Deputy Mayor for the 2014/15 Municipal Year.  She informed the Council that Ms 
Zahraa Marhoon had been appointed as Deputy Mayoress for the 2014/15 
Municipal Year. 
 
The Leader (elect), Councillor Stephen Cowan, moved that the past Mayor's badge 
be presented to Councillor Frances Stainton in recognition of her service to the 
Council in undertaking the office of Mayor, and in carrying out other associated civic 
duties as a Councillor, which was unanimously agreed. 
 
The Leader (elect) made a speech about the excellent and energetic work the 
outgoing Mayor had undertaken during her term of office.  Councillor Greg Smith, 
Leader of the Opposition, also thanked the outgoing Mayor for her work.  
Councillor Frances Stainton accepted her badge and made a brief speech.   
 
A vote of thanks was given to the past Mayoress Mrs Pauline Lyle-Smith and 
Consorts Comte Edouard de Guitaut and Prince Mohsin Ali-Khan for their work in 
supporting the past Mayor in carrying out her civic functions.  Mrs Pauline Lyle-
Smith, Comte Edouard de Guitaut and Prince Mohsin Ali-Khan then came forward 
to receive their respective badges.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

2. MINUTES  
 
7.35pm RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the Budget Council Meeting held on 26 February 2014 were 
confirmed and signed as an accurate record. 
 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for lateness were received from Councillor Jane Law. 
 

4. MAYOR'S/CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Mayor drew Members’ attention to a list of amendments relating to agenda 
items 6.4 Review of the Constitution, 7.4 Special Motion 4 Council Appointments to 
Local Government Organisations and Outside Bodies and 7.5 Special Motion 5 
Council Calendar, that was circulated at the meeting. 
 

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

6. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION/COMMITTEE REPORTS  
 

6.1 Party Appointments for 2014/15 Municipal Year  
 
7.35pm - The report of the Chief Executive on the various appointments made by 
the Party Groups on the Council for 2014/15 was noted. 
 

6.2 Results of the Local Government Elections on 22 May 2014  
 
7.35pm - The report of the Returning Officer on the results of the Local 
Government Elections held on 22 May 2014 was noted. 
 

6.3 Re-Order of Agenda  
 
7.36 pm – Under Standing Order 15(e) iii, Councillor Colin Aherne moved and 
Councillor PJ Murphy seconded a motion that Special Motion 7.1 relating to the 
Appointment of a Leader take precedence on the agenda and be considered.  This 
was agreed. 
 

6.4 Special Motion 1 - Appointment of the Leader of the Council  
 
Councillor Michael Cartwright moved, seconded by Councillor Colin Aherne, the 
special motion standing in their names. 
 
"This Council agrees the appointment of Councillor Stephen Cowan as the Leader 
of the Council”.  
 
 
 

Page 140



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

The motion was put to the vote: 
 
  FOR        Unanimous 
 AGAINST      0 
 ABSTENTIONS  0 
 
The motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
7.36 pm RESOLVED: 
 
This Council agrees the appointment of Councillor Stephen Cowan as the Leader 
of the Council. 
 

6.5 Allocation of Seats and Proportionality on Committees  
 
7.37pm - The report of the Monitoring Officer on the allocation of seats and 
proportionality on Committees was noted. 
 

6.6 Review of the Constitution  
 
7.38pm - The report and recommendations were formally moved for adoption by 
the Leader of the Council, Councillor Stephen Cowan, as amended. 
 
The report and recommendations, as amended, were put to the vote: 
 

FOR  Unanimous 
AGAINST  0 
NOT VOTING  0 

 
The report and recommendations, as amended, were declared CARRIED. 

 
7.38pm RESOLVED: 
 
(1) That the amendments to the Council’s Constitution as set out in paragraph 5.1 

to 5.3 of the report and Appendices 1 (as amended) and 2 of the report be 
agreed. 

(2) That amendments to Articles 4 and 6 of the Constitution; amendments to the 
Officer Schemes of Delegation to reflect updates in legislation and changes to 
the titles of posts; and changes to the Council Procedure Rules in the interest 
of consistency, as set out in Appendix 3, be agreed. 

(3) That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to make changes to the Constitution 
consequent upon the agreement of Recommendations 2.1 and 2.2, in 
consultation with the Chief Whips. 

(4) That subject to the agreement of Recommendations 2.1 to 2.3, the Council’s 
Constitution be  approved and adopted for the 2014/15 Municipal Year. 

 

 

Page 141



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

6.7 Members' Allowances Scheme: Revision  
 
7.39pm - The report and recommendations were formally moved for adoption by 
the Leader of the Council, Councillor Stephen Cowan. 
 
Speeches on the report were made by Councillors Max Schmid and Andrew Jones 
(for the Administration) and Councillors Mark Loveday and Harry Phibbs (for the 
Opposition). 
 
The report and recommendations were put to the vote and a roll-call was 
requested:  
  
FOR                                        AGAINST 
 
AHERNE  ADAM 
BARLOW  ALFORD 
BROWN (D)  BOTTERILL 
CARTWRIGHT  BROWN (A) 
CASSIDY  CARLEBACH 
CHUMNERY  DEWHIRST 
COLEMAN  DONOVAN 
CONNELL  FFISKE 
COWAN  GINN 
CULHANE  HAMILTON 
DE’ATH  IVIMY 
FENNIMORE  JOHNSON 
HARCOURT  KARMEL 
HASHEM  LARGAN 
HOLDER  LAW 
HOMAN  LOVEDAY 
JONES  NSUMBU 
LUKEY  PHIBBS 
MACMILLAN  SMITH 
MURPHY  STAINTON 
NEEDHAM   
PEREZ SHEPHERD   
SCHMID   
UMEH   
VAUGHAN   
VINCENT   

 
FOR  26 
AGAINST  20 
NOT VOTING  0 

 
The report and recommendations were declared CARRIED. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 142



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

8.01pm RESOLVED: 
 
(1) That all Members who are entitled to an Special Responsibility Allowance 

(SRA) shall take a 10% reduction in this allowance. 
 

(2) That under this scheme only one SRA will be paid to a Councillor in respect of 
duties undertaken. 
 

(3) That the revisions to the Members’ Allowances Scheme 2014/15 as set out in 
the report and attached as Appendix 1 of the report, be approved. 

 
6.8 Petitions: Annual Report 2013/14  

 
8.02pm - The report and recommendations were formally moved for adoption by 
the Leader of the Council, Councillor Stephen Cowan. 
 
The report and recommendations were put to the vote: 
 

FOR  Unanimous 
AGAINST  0 
NOT VOTING  0 

 
The report and recommendations were declared CARRIED. 
 
8.02pm RESOLVED: 
 
(1) That Council agrees to continue to operate the Petitions Scheme as outlined 

in paragraph 4.2 of the report; and  
 
(2) That the operation of the Council’s Petitions Scheme be noted.  
 

7. SPECIAL MOTIONS  
 

7.1 Special Motion 2 - Appointment by the Leader of the Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Members  
 
8.03pm – Councillor Stephen Cowan moved, seconded by Councillor Colin 
Aherne, the special motion standing in their names. 
 
"This Council notes the appointments by the Leader to the Cabinet.”  (as set out in 
the special motion) 
 
The motion was put to the vote: 
 
  FOR        Unanimous 
 AGAINST      0 
 NOT VOTING  0 
 
The motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
 

Page 143



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

8.03pm RESOLVED: 
 
This Council notes the appointments by the Leader to the Cabinet as set out 
below: 

 
LEADER 
 

Councillor Stephen Cowan 

DEPUTY LEADER  
 

Councillor Michael Cartwright 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN AND 
EDUCATION 
 

Councillor Sue Macmillan 

CABINET MEMBER FOR ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION  
 

Councillor Andrew Jones 

CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE  
 

Councillor Max Schmid 

CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH AND ADULT 
SOCIAL CARE 
 

Councillor Vivienne Lukey 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING 
 

Councillor Lisa Homan 

CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL INCLUSION  Councillor Sue Fennimore 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT, 
TRANSPORT & RESIDENTS SERVICES * 

Councillor Wesley Harcourt                                                                   

  
*   Includes Planning, Licensing and Public Protection and Safety. 
 
Lead Member - Contracts    Councillor Guy Vincent 
Lead Member - Hospitals and Health Care Councillor Sharon Holder 
 

7.2 Special Motion 3 - Appointments of Chairs and Memberships of Regulatory, Policy 
and Accountability and Other Committees 2014/15  
 
8.04pm – Councillor Stephen Cowan moved, seconded by Councillor Michael 
Cartwright, the special motion standing in their names: 
 
"This Council agrees the appointments of Chairs and Memberships of Regulatory, 
Policy and Accountability and other Committees under its Constitution for the 
Municipal Year 2014/15, [as set out in the special motion].   
 
This Council also notes their respective Portfolios / Terms of Reference, as set out 
in the Council’s Constitution.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 144



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

The motion was put to the vote: 
 
  FOR        Unanimous 
 AGAINST      0 
 ABSTENTIONS  0 
 
The motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
8.04pm RESOLVED: 
 
This Council agrees the appointments of Chairs and Memberships of Regulatory, 
Policy and Accountability and other Committees under its Constitution for the 
Municipal Year 2014/15, as set out in the special motion, and also notes their 
respective Portfolios/Terms of Reference, as set out in the Council’s Constitution. 
 

7.3 Special Motion 4 - Council Appointments to Local Government Organisations and 
Outside Bodies  
 
8.05pm - Councillor PJ Murphy moved, seconded by Councillor Larry Culhane, the 
special motion standing in their names. 
 
"This Council agrees the Council’s appointments to Local Government 
Organisations for 2014/15, as set out in Appendix 1, and to Outside Bodies, as set 
out in Appendix 2”, as amended. 
 
The motion, as amended, was put to the vote: 
 
  FOR        Unanimous 
 AGAINST      0 
 NOT VOTING  0 
 
The motion, as amended, was declared CARRIED. 
 
7.59pm RESOLVED: 
 
That the Council agrees the Council’s appointments to Local Government 
Organisations for 2014/15, as set out in Appendix 1 of the report, and to Outside 
Bodies, as set out in Appendix 2 of the report, as amended.  
 

7.4 Special Motion 5 - Council Calendar 2014/2015  
 
8.05pm - Councillor Larry Culhane, moved, seconded by Councillor PJ Murphy, the 
special motion standing in their names: 
 
"This Council agrees that, for the Municipal Year 2014/15, meetings of the Council, 
its Committees and Panels, be held on the dates specified, as set out in the 
Council Calendar”, as amended.  
 
 
 
 

Page 145



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

The motion, as amended, was put to the vote: 
 

FOR        Unanimous 
 AGAINST      0 
 ABSTENTIONS  0 
 
The motion, as amended, was declared CARRIED. 
 
8.05pm RESOLVED: 
 
That for the Municipal Year 2014/15, meetings of the Council, its Committees and 
Panels, be held on the dates specified, as set out in the Council Calendar, as 
amended.  
 

8. INFORMATION REPORTS - TO NOTE  
 

8.1 To Receive the Leader's Annual Report (Oral)  
 
8.06pm – The Council received an oral report from the Leader of the Council, 
Councillor Stephen Cowan. The Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Greg Smith 
made a speech on behalf of the Opposition.  
 

8.2 To Receive and Note the Labour Administration's Manifesto for the Council for 
2014-2018  
 
8.18pm – The Council received and noted the Labour Administration’s Manifesto 
for the Council for 2014–2018.  The Cabinet Member for Children and Education, 
Councillor Sue Macmillan, provided an oral presentation on the report.  This was 
followed by a speech by Councillor Lucy Ivimy who spoke on behalf of the 
Opposition.  Speeches were also made by Councillors Stephen Cowan and 
Andrew Jones (for the Administration) and Councillor Harry Phibbs (for the 
Opposition).  
 

8.3 Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2013/14  
 
8.45pm - The Council received the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report for the 
2013/14 Municipal Year.  The report was put to the vote and duly noted. 
 

 
 
 

* * * * *   CONCLUSION OF BUSINESS    * * * * * 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 8.46 pm 

 
Mayor   

 
 
 

Page 146



                                     No.  1 

 

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 

COUNCIL MEETING – 23 JULY 2014 

 

 

 

Question by: Lance Pierson 

  

To:  The Leader of the Council 
 

 
 
 
 
 
QUESTION 
 
 
“Can the Leader of the Council summarise what he has done since becoming Leader to 
continue the Council’s opposition to the Thames Tideway Tunnel?” 
  

 

Page 147

Agenda Item 5.1



                                     No.  2 

 

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 

COUNCIL MEETING – 23 JULY 2014 

 

 

 

Question by: Nnamdi E.S. Okoye 
  

To:  Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents Services 
 

 
 
 
 
 
QUESTION 
 
 
“In Opposition, the Labour Party attacked the previous administration for issuing fixed 
penalty notices for moving traffic offences, particularly infringements into yellow box 
junctions. Given their opposition to these fines, will the new administration be turning those 
cameras off?” 

Page 148

Agenda Item 5.2



 

 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COUNCIL 
 

23 JULY 2014 
 

INTERIM BUDGET REPORT 

 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance: Councillor Max Schmid 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision  
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Jane West – Executive Director Finance and 
Corporate Governance 
 

Report Author: Jane West, Executive 
Director of Finance and Corporate 
Governance 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 1900 
E-mail: jane.west@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Council faces a 2015/16 budget gap, before savings, of £24.4m, rising to 

£65.3m by 2018/19.  
 
1.2    At the Annual Council Meeting, action was taken towards addressing the gap by 

reducing Special Responsibility Allowances by 10% and ending the practice of 
paying Councillors multiple such allowances.  

 
1.3 This report sets out further early steps proposed for 2014/15. Ensuring a healthy 

surplus is achieved in 2014/15 will put the Council in a better position to meet 
future budget gaps. These proposals include reducing spend in the general fund 
by £3,998,000 against the 2014/15 budget and in the HRA by £108,000.  

 
1.4    The report also removes a charge for burials at 24 hours notice. This is an early 

result of an ongoing broad review of the fees and charges levied by the Council.  
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the Council notes the plan to reduce spend against the 2014/15 general 

fund budget by £3,998,000 and the HRA budget by £108,000. 
 

2.2 That the charge of £478 for a burial at 24 hours notice, outside the normal 
operational hours of 10AM – 4PM Monday to Friday, be abolished. 

 
 

Page 149

Agenda Item 6.1



3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. The report sets out planned underspends against the budget that the Council set 
in February 2014. An adjustment to the fees and charges levied by the Council is 
proposed.  

 
4. BUDGET REVIEW 
 
4.1 As reported to the July Finance and Delivery Policy and Accountability Committee 

Hammersmith and Fulham faces a 2015/16 budget gap, before savings, of £24.4m, 
rising to £65.3m by 2018/19. In addition to efforts being made to meet these future 
gaps, the incoming Council administration has started a review of the 2014/15 
General Fund revenue budget as approved by Council in February 2014. Changes 
are proposed in the following areas. 

 
Communications 

 
4.2 The new administration plans to reduce expenditure on communications across the 

Council. This will be achieved through a reduction in activity in relation to corporate 
communications, which includes no longer publishing corporate publications such as 
Your H&F and no longer commissioning printed corporate communications campaigns 
to promote contentious policies and decisions. Other savings will come from a 
migration of printed communications to online. The proposed general fund 2014/15 
saving already quantified and allocated is £144,000 with estimated full year savings 
corresponding this these reductions of at least £241,000 in 2015/16. Broader work is 
underway to calculate further savings that can be realised in 2015/16 and beyond on 
communications.  

 
4.3 In addition, there is a further proposed reduction in Housing Revenue Account on 

communications expenditure from the cancellation of Your Home magazine, West 
Side Stories magazine and other publications. These savings are estimated at 
£108,000 in 2014/15 and £111,000 in a full year.  

 
4.4 Extra general fund income of at least £12,000 starting in 2014/15 is also anticipated 

from boundary signs sponsorship. The Council spent £19,000 last year on boundary 
and other lamppost signs that promoted the Council.  

 
Finance and Corporate Services 

 
4.5 The Finance team have identified opportunities for debt restructuring that will enable 

budget savings of £200,000 and the Human Resources Team have identified an on-
going saving starting in 2014/15 of £50,000 from the reduction of a post. The external 
audit budget will also be reduced by £80,000. 

 
Environment, Leisure and Residents’ Services/Tri-borough Libraries 

 
4.6 The Tri-borough Library Service has identified that due to the increase in demand for 

eBooks it can release £30,000 from its book stock budget.   
 

4.7 A new charge of £478 was introduced in 2014/15 for burials at 24 hour notice that are 
outside the normal operational hours of 10AM – 4PM Monday to Friday. Council are 
asked to approve that this charge be scrapped. The impact on revenue budgets will 
be limited. No charges have yet been raised.    

 
 

Page 150



 

Children’s Services 
 

4.8 The Tri-borough Children’s Services has been successful in achieving a ‘payment by 
results’ bonus of £200,000 from its Troubled Families programme in H&F. Other 
external funding has also been identified that offsets costs of £39,000. 
 

4.9 Further savings have been found arising from the corporate allocation of Dedicated 
Schools Grant that can reduce net spend in 2014/15 by £200,000. 

 

Housing and Regeneration 
 

4.10 The Housing & Regeneration department (HRD) have conducted a review of 
efficiency targets for 2015/16. HRD officers have identified £34,000 of savings 
originally proposed for 2015/16 that they have been asked to bring forward. Other 
potential HRD savings for 2014/15 are still under consideration.   

 
Adult Social Care 
 

4.11 Savings in the following areas have been identified for 2014/15 :-   
 

• Improve outcomes and reduce dependency amongst residents through 
better joint services with the NHS (£157,000). 

• Review of no recourse to public funds (£100,000) 

• Additional external funding has been identified that offsets costs by 
(£552,000) 

 
Summary of New Savings  

 

4.12 The total HRA reduction in spend identified is 108,000.  
 
4.13 The total general fund savings identified add up to £1,798,000. These are 

summarised in Table 1.   
 

Table 1: New Planned General Fund Reduced spend for 2015/16.   
 

 

 
                              

New savings 
Identified 

£000s 

Communications (156) 

Finance and Corporate Services (330) 

Tri-Borough Libraries (30) 

Children’s Services (439) 

Housing & Regeneration (34) 

Adult Social Care (809) 

 (1,798) 
 

*note: figures in brackets represent underspends 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 151



4.14 Further to this, corporately held budgets have also been identified as under spending 
and will be reduced. These total £2,200,000 and the detail is set out in Table 2. 

 
Table 2: General Fund Corporately Held Budgets 

 

 

 
Budget                              

Forecast 
Year End 
Variance  

As At  
May 2014 

£000s 

Budgeted contribution to balances (900) 

Inflation provision (400) 

Redundancy provision (200) 

Council Tax Support (500) 

Land Charges (200) 

Total Underspend* (2,200) 

 
*note: figures in brackets represent underspends 
 

 Month 2 Forecasted Overspends 
 
4.15 The Council’s Budget Monitoring for May flagged up some potential budget 

overspends. These are set out in Table 3. Officers are now working to prevent these 
overspends and constrain spend within budget.  

 
Table 3 – Forecast Overspends as at May 2014  

 

 

 
Department                              

Revised 
Budget  

As At 
 May 2014 

 
£000s 

Forecast 
Year End 
Variance  

As At  
May 2014 

£000s 

Adult Social Care 64,403 384 

Children's Services 48,741 802 

Transport & Technical Services 14,922 194 

  1,380  

 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1  There are no legal implications for this report.  
 

Implications verified by:  Tasnim Shawkat, Director of Law 020 8753 2700 
 
6. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The financial implications are incorporated into the body of this report. 
 
Implications verified by:  Andrew Lord, Head of Strategic Planning and 
Monitoring, Corporate Finance 020 8753 2531 
 

 

Page 152



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder 
of file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

CONTACT OFFICER NAME: Jane West  EXT. 1900 

 

Page 153



 

 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COUNCIL 

 
23 JULY 2014 

 

REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION -  IN YEAR REVISIONS 

 
Report of the Leader of the Council: Councillor Stephen Cowan  
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For  decision 
 
Key Decision:  No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director:  Tasnim Shawkat, Monitoring Officer 
 

Report Author:  Kayode Adewumi, 
Head of Governance and Scrutiny 

Contact Details: Tel: 020 8753 2499 
E-mail: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. The Council at its meeting on 16 June 2014 agreed revisions to the Constitution 
and re-adopted the document for the 2014/15 Municipal Year.   
 

1.2. This report recommends some further amendments to:  
 

(1) enable Policy and Accountability Committees to co-opt up to 5 non-voting 
members, 
 

(2) approve the revised Contract Standing Orders;     
 

(3) amend the quorum of the Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee. 
 

(4) make some in year changes to reflect updates to the Officer Schemes of 
Delegation as a result of changes in legislation and revisions to officer titles and 
posts.   
 

(5) authorise Cabinet Members to set up advisory Groups which will advise on 
policy issues. 
 

1.3. The Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to amend the Constitution where 
there has been a change in law,  job title, structure, rearrangement of job 
responsibilities or for general administrative convenience. The Council is asked to 
note these changes.  

 
 
 

Page 154

Agenda Item 6.2



 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. That the amendments to the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules applying to 
co-optees to the Policy and Accountability Committees as set out in para. 4.2 of 
the report be agreed.  

 
2.2 That the revised Contract Standing Orders as set out in para. 4.3 and Appendix  1 

of the report be agreed. 
 
2.3 That the quorum of the Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee be increased 

from 3 Members to 5 Members as set out in para. 4.4 of the report. 
 
2.4 That the minor amendments made to the Officer Schemes of Delegation by the 

Monitoring Officer, as set out in para. 4.5 and  Appendix  2 of the report, be 
agreed.    

 
2.5 That the amendments to the Cabinet portfolios enabling Cabinet Members to set 

up advisory Groups which will advise on policy issues, be agreed. 
 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. The Council’s Monitoring Officer is required to keep the Council’s Constitution up 
to date to ensure that its aims and principles are given full effect in accordance 
with Article 15 of the Constitution. 

 
4. PROPOSALS  

4.1. Experience with the new Policy and Accountability Committees (PACs), 
established following Council approval at the meeting held on 16 June 2014,  has 
demonstrated the need for their contribution to be reinforced  by the inclusion of 
committed co-opted members who can provide the Council with the benefit of their 
experience  and insight in relevant areas.  

 
4.2. The current Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in the Constitution enables 

each Committee to co-opt a number of people in a non-voting capacity, the number 
of which shall be determined by full Council.  It is recommended that each 
Committee be empowered to co-opt up to 5 non-voting members and that each co-
optee receives an annual allowance of £504 per annum.  The Children and 
Education Policy and Accountability Committee already has 4 Statutory Co-opted 
Members with voting rights on Education matters (2 Parent Governor 
representatives and 2 diocese representatives).  This Committee will be able to 
appoint two additional co-optees. 

 
4.3. The current Contract Standing Orders have been amended as in  Appendix 1.  

The majority of the changes are cosmetic, such as redefining the new Cabinet 
portfolios, re-ordering some of the paragraphs, and including reference to  Capital 
ESourcing as a procurement tool, etc.  There are other small changes, for example 
around the role of Service Review Teams and Tender Appraisal Panels, and to 
provisions for extension and variations to existing contracts. The Council is 
recommended to approve the revised Contract Standing Orders. 

 
4.4. On 16 June 2014, the Council approved an increase in the membership of the 

Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee from 6 to 9 Members. In view of this 

Page 155



increase, it is recommended that the quorum  for this Committee be increased from 
3 members to 5 Members. 

 
4.5. Appendix 2 outlines the main revisions made, under the Monitoring Officer’s 

delegated powers, to the Scheme of Delegation  of powers to officers in part 3 of 
the Constitution. These reflect legislative changes and updates to titles and jobs as 
a result of changes to legislation and changes in departmental structures. The 
changes and the reasons for them are set out the Appendix.   

 
4.6 Setting up Advisory Groups are a good way for Cabinet Members to access the 

expertise of a wider range of people and organisations.  The groups will be wholly 
advisory with no executive decision making powers.  Members will use the forums 
to advise on policy issues, review existing service provision and particularly work 
with external partners on developing programmes. 
 

5. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1. There are none.   
 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. It is important to note that the Local Government Act 2000 requires the Council to 
have and maintain a Constitution.  The Monitoring Officer is satisfied that the 
Council’s Constitution continues to fulfil its stated purposes, as set out in Article 1 
of the Constitution. 
 

6.2. Implications verified by:  Tasnim Shawkat, Director of Law 020 8753 2700. 
 
 

7. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. The extra cost of allowances for the co-opted members will be met from existing 
budget. 

 
7.2. Implications verified/completed by:  Kayode Adewumi, Head of Governance and 

Scrutiny 020 8753 2499. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT  

8.1. There are no significant risk management implications for this report.  
 
 

9. PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. There are no procurement of IT strategy implications.  
 
9.2. Implications completed by Alan Parry, Procurement Consultant, Telephone: 020 

8753 2581 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   
 

Page 156



Page 1 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Appendix 1 

 

Contract 

Standing 

Orders 

2014 

Page 157



Page 2 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM  

CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS – 2014 

MADE PURSUANT TO SECTION 135 OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

 

Contents    Pages     

S ECT ION  1  -  S c o p e  o f  C o n t r a c t  S t a n d i n g  O r d e r s  

1 BASIC PRINCIPLES 2 - 3 

2 OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES 3 - 4 

3 WAIVERS AND EXEMPTIONS 4 - 5 

4 RELEVANT CONTRACTS 5   

5 PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 6   

6 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 6   

SECT ION  2  –  P r e p a r i n g  f o r  t e n d e r i n g  

7 STEPS PRIOR TO PURCHASE 7 - 9 

8 PRE-TENDER MARKET RESEARCH & CONSULTATION 9   

9 PROCUREMENT PRINCIPLES 9 - 10 

10 STANDARDS & AWARD CRITERIA 10   

SECT ION  3  –  T h e  P r o c u r e m e n t  P r o c e s s  

11 PROCUREMENT PROCESSES, ADVERTISING AND APPROVED LISTS 11 - 12 

12 COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS FOR PURCHASE, DISPOSAL & 
PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS 

12 - 14 

13 SHORTLISTING 15   

14 INVITATIONS TO TENDER/QUOTE 15 - 16 

15 SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS 16   

16 CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES AND POST TENDER NEGOTIATION 16   

17 EVALUATION AND AWARD OF CONTRACT 17   

18 RECORDS AND DEBRIEFING CANDIDATES 17 - 18 

SECT ION  4  -  C o n t r a c t  a n d  o t h e r  f o r m a l i t i e s  

19 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 18 - 19 

20 EXTENSIONS AND VARIATIONS 20 - 21 

21 PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES AND BONDS 21   

SECT ION  5  –  S p e c i a l  p r o c e d u r e s  

22 ENERGY RELATED PROCUREMENT 22   

23 CONSULTANTS & COUNSEL 22   

24 SPOT CONTRACTS 22 - 23 

SECT ION  6  -  C o n t r a c t  m a n a g e m e n t  

25 MANAGING CONTRACTS 24   

26 RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING 24   

27 POST-CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION & REVIEW 24   

 APPENDIX – Glossary of defined terms 25 - 33 

Page 158



 

Page 2 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

S E C T I O N  1  

S c o p e  o f  C o n t r a c t  S t a n d i n g  O r d e r s  

     

1 BASIC PRINCIPLES 

 
1.1 These Contract Standing Orders (hereafter referred to as “CSOs”) are made 

pursuant to section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972.  The aim of these 
CSOs are to promote good purchasing practice and public accountability, and 
deter corruption. Following the rules is the best defence against allegations that a 
decision has been made incorrectly or fraudulently.  Failure to follow them may 
result in disciplinary or even criminal proceedings.  

1.2 Officers and Members responsible for purchasing or disposal must comply with 
these CSOs, which lay down minimum requirements.  They will be supplemented 
by a series of Purchasing Guides (as published on the intranet and internet). 

1.3 These CSOs have been written to reflect current legislative requirements and to 
ensure that there is compliance by the Council.  However, where there are any 
inconsistencies between these CSOs and the requirements of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2006 (as amended)1, 2 (or any other statutory 
requirements that may replace or supplement these Regulations), the latter will 
take precedence. 

1.4 Where financial thresholds are mentioned they should be cross-referenced with 
the Council’s Financial Regulation and in the event of any inconsistency between 
the two documents Financial Regulations shall take precedence.  

1.5 Throughout these CSOs where reference is made to “estimated values” that 
means the total estimated spend and not the annualised estimated value of the 
proposed contract. 

1.6 For the avoidance of doubt, and subject to specific exemptions contained within 
these CSOs, a Cabinet Member Decision (CMD) is required for the approval of 
all contracts that have a total value of £20,000 and greater, but less than 
£100,000 and a Cabinet Key Decision (KD) for all contracts that have a total 
value of £100,000 or greater. 

1.7 Procurement is the process which governs the acquisition of goods, works and 
services - from identification of need, through to the end of a service contract or 
the end of the useful life of an asset.  Purchasing and disposal procedures must: 

• Comply with all legal requirements 

• Achieve best value for public money spent 

• Be consistent with the highest standards of integrity 

• Ensure fairness in allocating public contracts 

• Ensure that Non-commercial Considerations do not influence any 
Contracting Decision 

• Support the Council’s corporate and departmental aims and policies 

• Comply with the Council’s procurement strategy and Purchasing Guides. 

                                            
1
 The Public Contracts (Amendment) Regulations 2009 

2
 The Public Procurement (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2011. 

Page 159



 

Page 3 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

1.8 Every person involved in any procurement process has a responsibility to declare 
any links or personal interests that they may have with potential purchasers, 
suppliers and/or contractors if they are engaged in contractual or purchasing 
decisions on behalf of the Council. 

1.9 To ensure the integrity of the tendering process, nobody involved in the 
procurement process may - 

• act in any way that may be viewed or construed as a conflict of interest, or 

• disclose any information (otherwise known as "insider information") they 
may have obtained about any external or internal tenderer involved in a 
contract tendering process to any person who is not expressly entitled to it, 
or  

• divulge the content of any tender, tender list, detailed estimates, or other 
tender information to any person who is not expressly entitled to such 
information. 

1.10 Where there is an inconsistency or ambiguity in these CSOs, the Director for 
Procurement & IT Strategy following consultation with the Bi-Borough Director of 
Law will advise. 

1.11 Tri-borough3 Procurement –  

1.11.1 All procurement exercises will primarily be considered in terms of joint 
procurement activity either on a tri-borough (or bi-borough) basis.  Secondary 
considerations may dictate that the procurement should, in addition, be opened 
to other public bodies.  Only in exceptional circumstances will the Council 
consider procuring works, goods or services on its own behalf. (see CSO 7.4 
below.) 

1.11.2 Officers need to refer to the Tri-borough Procurement Code, Tri-borough 
Procurement Protocol for Joint Contracts and associated documents when 
carrying out procurement exercises. 

     

2 OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.1. These CSOs must be strictly complied with; they are the Council’s minimum 
requirements. A more thorough procedure may be appropriate for a particular 
contract.  For example, rather than seeking a quotation a more formal tendering 
process may be applicable (as set out in CSO 12.3 and table 12.3). Equally, it 
may not always be appropriate to make use of an exemption under the following 
section (CSO 3), even if one might apply or be granted. 

2.2. General responsibilities of Chief Officers (Executive Directors):  The Chief Officer 
has responsibility for all contracts tendered and let by their Department. He/she is 
accountable to the Cabinet for the performance of his/her duties in relation to 
contract letting and management, which are: 
(a) to ensure compliance with English and EU legislation and Council Policy; 
(b) to ensure value for money in all procurement matters; 
(c) to ensure compliance with these CSOs Financial Regulations and the 

Purchasing Guides 
(d) to maintain a departmental scheme of delegation; 

                                            
3
 Three boroughs comprising London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham, Royal Borough of 

Kensington & Chelsea and Westminster City Council 

Page 160



 

Page 4 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

(e) to ensure that all relevant staff are familiar with the provisions of these 
CSOs, Financial Regulations and the Purchasing Guides and that they 
receive adequate training on their operation; 

(f) to ensure compliance with any guidelines issued in respect of these CSOs; 
(g) to take immediate action in the event of a breach of these CSOs or the 

Purchasing Guides within his or her area; 
(h) to keep proper records of all contracts, tenders etc. including electronic 

data files (where electronic tendering systems are used), minutes of tender 
evaluation panels and other meetings; 

(i) to keep records of waivers and exemptions of any provision of these 
Contract Standing Orders (as set out in Section 3 below); 

(j) to keep proper records of all contract awarded (using the Council’s 
approved Database4 where these have a total value of £20,000 and over); 
and  

(k) the safekeeping of all original contracts which have been completed by 
signature and where the value is below £100,000.  For contracts which 
exceed this figure the contractual paperwork is passed to the Bi-borough 
Director of Law for sealing as a Deed (and thereafter safekeeping). 

2.3. Chief Officers are empowered within the terms of these CSOs to delegate to any 
officer within their Department authority to act on their behalf.  However, such 
delegation will not affect their accountability for actions taken in their name. 

2.4. Officers:  The Officer responsible for purchasing or disposal must comply with 
these CSOs, Financial Regulations, Code of Conduct and with all UK and 
European Union binding legal requirements.  The Officer must: 
(a) keep the records required by CSO 18 
(b) ensure that Tender procedures are conducted in accordance with 

procedures set out in the Invitation to Tender. 
(c) also ensure that agents, consultants, and contractual partners acting on 

their behalf also comply. 
(d) take all necessary legal, financial and professional advice. 

2.5. No councillor or officer may accept any form of hospitality from any Candidate 
during a tendering (or similar exercise).  Hospitality from suppliers, service 
providers or contractors who may or may not have current contracts with the 
Council may only be accepted in accordance with the “Guidance on Gifts and 
Hospitality” which forms part of the Council’s Constitution (for Members) and 
“Policy and Procedure for: Acceptance of Gifts and Hospitality by Employees 
Guidance on the receipt of gifts, benefits and hospitality” that is part of the 
Council’s Personnel Procedures (for officers).  For both Members and officers the 
appropriate Register of Gifts and Hospitality should be completed in accordance 
with this guidance. 

3. WAIVERS AND EXEMPTIONS 

3.1 A prior written waiver to these CSOs may be agreed by the Appropriate Persons 
(as defined in table 3.1 below) if they are satisfied that a waiver is justified 
because: 

• the nature of the market for the works to be carried out, or the goods to be 
purchased, or the services to be provided has been investigated and is 
demonstrated to be such that a departure from these CSOs is justifiable; or 

• the contract is for works, goods or services that are required in 
circumstances of extreme urgency that could not reasonably have been 
foreseen; or 

                                            
4
 Capital-E-Sourcing 

Page 161



 

Page 5 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

• the circumstances of the proposed contract are covered by legislative 
exemptions (whether under the Public Contracts Regulations 2006, EU 
Directives or English law); or 

• it is in the Council’s overall interest; or 

• there are other circumstances which are genuinely exceptional. 
A departmental record of the decision approving a waiver and the reasons for it 
must be kept in accordance with CSO 18.2 or CSO 18.3.  The provisions 
contained in this paragraph cannot be considered if the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2006 (EU Procedure) applies. 

 

Appropriate Person Estimated Contract Value 

Client Executive Director  Less than £20,000 

The appropriate Cabinet Member(s) acting on 
advice from the Client Director. 

£20,000 or more but less 
than £100,000 

The appropriate Cabinet Member(s) and the 
Leader of the Council 

£100,000 or more. 

3.2 All waivers and exemptions for contracts with an estimated value of £20,000 and 
more, and the reasons for them, must be detailed in a report either to the Cabinet 
or the appropriate Cabinet Member(s).  The report must contain the comments of 
appropriate Chief Officer, the Executive Director of Finance & Corporate 
Governance, the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy, and the Bi-borough 
Director of Law.  

3.3 Where a prior approval has not been obtained in accordance with CSO 3.1 the 
reason for non-compliance must be contained in the tender acceptance report. 

3.4 Each Chief Officer shall take immediate action in the event of breach of these 
CSOs by reporting this breach to the Executive Director of Finance and 
Corporate Governance.  It will be the responsibility of the Executive Director of 
Finance and Corporate Governance to determine the nature of the breach and if 
it is deemed to be serious (e.g. involving a Key Decision) to refer the matter to 
the Bi-borough Director of Audit for investigation with view to identifying the steps 
to be taken to avoid a reoccurrence. 

     

4 RELEVANT CONTRACTS 

4.1 All Relevant Contracts must comply with these CSOs  

4.2 A Relevant Contract is any arrangement made by, or on behalf of, the Council for 
the carrying out of work or for the supply of goods, materials or services. These 
include arrangements for: 

• the supply or disposal of goods; 

• hire, rental or lease of goods or equipment; 

• execution of works; 

• the delivery of services, including those related to: 

• the recruitment of staff 

• land and property transactions 

• financial and consultancy services; and 

• concessions (services and/or works) 

4.3 Relevant Contracts do not include contracts relating to: 

table 3.1. 

Page 162



 

Page 6 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

• the employment of staff 

• the engagement of Counsel, or 

• the engagement of arbitrators, adjudicators or mediators in connection with 
construction related disputes. 

• the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (for which Financial Regulations 
shall apply) 

• the making of grants. 

     

5 PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 

5.1 The Officer must comply with the Code of Conduct and the Council’s anti-fraud 
and corruption strategy and must not invite or accept any gift or reward in respect 
of the award or performance of any contract.  It will be for the Officer to prove that 
anything received was not received corruptly. 

5.2 High standards of conduct are obligatory. Corrupt behaviour will lead to dismissal 
and is a crime under the statutes referred to in CSO 5.3. 

5.3 The following clause must be put in every written Council contract: 

“The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the 
Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the Contractor’s behalf does 
any of the following things: 
 

(a) offers, gives or agrees to give to anyone any inducement or reward in 
respect of this or any other Council contract (even if the Contractor does 
not know what has been done); or 
(b) commits an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or Section 117(2) of the 
Local Government Act 1972; or 
(c) commits any fraud in connection with this or any other Council contract, 
whether alone or in conjunction with Council members, contractors or 
employees. 
 

Any clause limiting the Contractor’s liability shall not apply to this clause.” 

     

6 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

6.1 If it comes to the knowledge of a member or an employee of the Council that a 
contract in which he or she has a pecuniary interest has been or is proposed to 
be entered into by the Council, he or she shall immediately give written notice to 
the Chief Executive. The Chief Executive shall report such declarations to the 
appropriate committee. 

6.2 Such written notice is required, irrespective of whether the pecuniary interest is 
direct or indirect. An indirect pecuniary interest is distinct from a direct pecuniary 
interest in as much as it is not a contract to which the member or employee is 
directly a party. 

6.3 A shareholding in a body not exceeding a total nominal value of £1,000 or 1% of 
the nominal value of the issued share capital (whichever is the less) is not a 
pecuniary interest for the purposes of this CSO. 

6.4 The Chief Executive shall maintain a record of all declarations of interests notified 
by members and Officers.  

Page 163



 

Page 7 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

6.5 The Chief Executive shall ensure that the attention of all members is drawn to the 
National Code of Local Government Conduct. 

Page 164



 

Page 8 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

 
 

S e c t i o n  2  

P r e p a r i n g  f o r  t e n d e r i n g  

     

7 PRE-TENDER MARKET RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION 

7.1 The Officer responsible for the purchase: 

• may consult potential suppliers prior to the issue of the Invitation to Tender 
in general terms about the nature, level, broad estimated value and 
standard of the supply, contract packaging and other relevant matters 
provided this does not prejudice any potential Candidate, and  

• may, where an existing contract exists, obtain from the current service 
provider information on service delivery aspects,  but 

• must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of an Invitation 
to Tender or Quotation from anyone who may have a commercial interest in 
bidding, as this may prejudice the outcome by distorting competition and 
compromise the equal treatment of all potential Candidates. 

7.2 Consultation referred to in CSO 7.1 above may be initiated through the 
publication of a Prior Information Notice in OJEU, the electronic portal (used for 
tendering purposes) and/or on the “capitalEsourcing” website 

    

8 STEPS PRIOR TO PURCHASE 

8.1 Where an existing contractual arrangement has been approved, no orders shall 
be placed with any other organisation or new contractual arrangements sought 
unless:  

• there is prior approval from the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy and 
there are reasonable grounds for doing so; or 

• the contract itself needs to be renewed or  

• an existing contractor or provider has defaulted on a contract.  Where a 
contractor, provider or supplier defaults on a contract, any retention monies 
held under that contract could be used to raise an order with an alternative 
provider in the event of such failure. 

8.2 Before promoting the procurement of a new or joining a pre-existing framework or 
consortium arrangement, an Officer must be satisfied that such an approach 
represents the most economically advantageous solution and can be entered into 
without breaching the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

8.3 With the exception of framework agreements let by the Crown Commercial 
Service (formerly the Government Procurement Service), the Director for 
Procurement & I.T. Strategy must be formally consulted where the purchase is to 
be made using a framework agreement awarded by another Central Purchasing 
Body, (e.g. local authority, government department, statutory undertaker or public 
service purchasing consortium). Before entering into a contract based upon an 
existing framework agreement or joining a consortium the Officer shall:  

Page 165



 

Page 9 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

(a) provide evidence to the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy that a full, 
open and proper competitive process has been (or will be) undertaken and 
that such process complies with all statutory requirements 

(b) consult with the Bi-borough Director of Law on the terms and conditions of 
the proposed contract to ensure that they do not compromise the Council’s 
interests; and  

(c) comply with the terms of the framework agreement, including the carrying 
out of any further competition requirements contained in it (e.g. “mini-
competition). 

Establishing a Service Review Team & developing a Business Case 

8.4 The precursor to any new procurement exercise (which requires a Key Decision) 
shall be carried out by a Service Review Team (SRT) established by the Client-
side Director.  The SRT will include the Contract Manager, client-side officers, 
relevant stakeholders, and engage relevant professional officers in legal, finance, 
procurement, IT and HR.  It will also commission additional expertise where this 
is warranted. 

8.5 All procurement related exercises (which require a Key Decision) must produce a 
high-level business case to the Client-Executive Director examining the 
possibilities of working with other boroughs, on either a regional5 or sub-regional 
basis6.  Only where collaborative procurement is not an option will the SRT 
recommend procuring exclusively for the Council (see also CSO 1.11.1 above). 

Establishing a Tender Appraisal Panel 

8.6 Where a competitive tendering exercise is considered appropriate a Tender 
Appraisal Panel (TAP) shall be established to take responsibility for managing all 
aspects of the procurement process.  This includes signing off all documentation 
required to undertake a procurement exercise. 

8.7 The TAP will be chaired by a senior service manager in the client department (or 
where there are several departments involved, in the department with the highest 
spend), with a senior sponsor, and include relevant stakeholders (e.g. contract 
manager). It will consult and engage relevant professional officers in legal, 
finance, procurement, IT and HR.  It will also commission additional expertise 
where this is warranted. It will be responsible for  

• ensuring a contract is put in place in accordance with legal requirements, 

•  that it meets required deadlines and service requirements and  

• represents value for money.  

8.8 In most instances the TAP will identify and appoint a Project Officer who will be 
responsible for the day to day running of the procurement exercise.  The Project 
Officer will be a member of the TAP. 

8.9 Before beginning a purchase, the Project Officer responsible for it must, in a 
manner commensurate with the complexity and value of the purchase: 

• ensure that there is an estimating process which sets out the initial project 
estimate, revised estimates and tender estimate being a necessary part of 
the tender comparison and competitiveness evaluation.  Such estimates 
must reflect current or expected market values and must not be over 
inflated as a means of avoiding the requirements of either or both the 
Public Contracts Regulations (as amended) or these CSOs. 

                                            
5
 Regionally means within Greater London (or wider – South Eastern England), and in this context any 

identifiable public bodies may be party to it. 
6
 Sub-regionally means public bodies predominately in central and western London 

Page 166



 

Page 10 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

• take into account any procurement guidance issued by the Bi-borough 
Procurement Strategy Board and/or the Executive Director of Finance & 
Corporate Governance  

• consider any recommendations arising out of a Service Review (including 
the Business Case) 

• consult with the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy to ensure that a 
contractual arrangement is not already in place (either as an in-house 
service or as a contract with an external organisation).   

• appraise the need for the expenditure and its priority 

• define the objectives of the purchase and, where appropriate, ensure that 
they meet the requirements of the Business Case developed by the SRT; 

• assess the risks associated with the purchase and how to manage them 

• consider, where it is appropriate, the Council’s responsibilities under the 
Civil Contingency Act in terms of potential emergencies and the continuity 
of high priority services 

• have due regard to the Council’s responsibilities under the Public Sector 
Equality Dutyi arising from the Equality Act 2010 and other relevant 
legislation (e.g. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012) 

• consider what procurement method is most likely to achieve the purchasing 
objectives, including:  

• internal provision (“make decision”) or  

• external sourcing (“buy decision”),  

• collaboration (including shared services) with other purchasers, 
partnering and long-term relationships 

• the use of a framework agreement already let by the Council or a 
framework agreement let by another Central Purchasing Body and 
which has been awarded on the basis that it can be used by others; 

• consult users as appropriate about the proposed procurement method, 
contract standards, and also performance and user satisfaction monitoring 

• select the most appropriate procurement method and 

• set these matters out in writing if the Total Estimated Value of the purchase 
exceeds £20,000; 

and confirm that: 

• there is Cabinet, Cabinet Member or delegated approval for the 
expenditure in accordance with Financial Regulations; 

• for non-procurement related issues the appropriate approvals, for example, 
those found in Financial Regulations have been complied with, and 

• appropriate contract notices (and advertisements), have been placed in 
accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2006, EU Procedures 
and these CSOs. 

8.10 The TAP shall appoint from its ranks the appropriate professional officers (and in 
most instances this will include the Project Officer) to evaluate expressions of 
interest or tenders received.  These professional officers will individually score 
the submissions received and award marks against the pre-published criteria.  
Only those officers that are qualified to evaluate submissions may be invited to 
do so.  The TAP will then consider these individual scores and shall arrive at and 
agree a consensus score for all criteria.  The TAP shall not adopt, as a 
methodology, an average scoring arrangement. 

8.11 The TAP will keep accurate records of all meetings, retain appropriate 
documentation and maintain proper records for transparency and audit purposes. 

Page 167



 

Page 11 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

8.12 The TAP will undertake post project reviews where required. It will implement any 
corporate or tri-borough shared service requirements including supporting 
arrangements around any agreed Gate proposals and participating in any audits. 

8.13 Except for our of hours purchases or minor expenses, no telephone orders are to 
be placed for goods, work, works or services, unless otherwise agreed by the 
Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy.  For most low value expenditure, and in 
order to reduce maverick spend, officers are required to raise a purchase order to 
be placed through the Council’s e-Procurement system (or other approved 
specialist order system). 

 

     

9 PROCUREMENT PRINCIPLES 

9.1 Where there are no suitable pre-existing framework agreements the Council must  
carry out its own tendering exercise either for a contract or to establish for its own 
usage or for other public bodies to join a framework agreement.  Where a 
framework agreement is to be established that will include other public bodies 
approval from the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy is required. 

9.2 Unless otherwise agreed by the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy, all 
procurement exercises that have a competitive element will be undertaken using 
the Council’s e-tender software  

9.3 All procurement must be carried out in an open and transparent manner in 
accordance with table 11.1 below.  The process shall be undertaken by a Tender 
Appraisal Panel to ensure that the Council receives value for money (except 
where the award criteria is to be on the basis of the lowest tender received – no 
subjective decision on quality/price ratios). 

9.4 Any agreed Council or tri-borough developed Gateway review process must be 
applied to all relevant contracts. 

     

10 STANDARDS AND AWARD CRITERIA 

10.1 The Officer must ascertain what are the relevant British (or equivalent) European 
or international standards which apply to the subject matter of the contract. The 
Officer must include those standards that are necessary properly to describe the 
required quality. The Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy must be formally 
consulted before any Officer decides to use any standard that does not include a 
European standard. 

10.2 The basis of award shall be either the: 

• “lowest price” where payment is to be made by the Council 

• “highest price”, if payment is to be received, or 

• “most economically advantageous tender” (where quality and/or other 
considerations other than purchase price also apply). 

 The Council’s preferred option is to accept the “most economically advantageous 
tender”.  If this approach is adopted, it must be further defined by reference to 
criteria, sub-criteria and scoring methodologies.  All levels of criteria may refer 
only to relevant considerations.  These may include: price; quality of service; 
quality of goods; whole-life running costs; whole life cycle costs; technical merit; 
delivery date; cost effectiveness; quality; relevant environmental considerations; 
aesthetic and functional characteristics (including security and control features); 

Page 168



 

Page 12 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

safety; after-sales services; technical assistance; partnering arrangements; long-
term relationships, and any other relevant matter. 

10.3 The Tender Appraisal Panel (TAP) (and/or Officer) must define and document the 
Award Criteria and sub-criteria that are appropriate to the tendering exercise, 
before tenders are sought.  Award Criteria & sub-criteria must be designed to 
secure an outcome giving best value for money for the Council.  

10.4 Tender Appraisal Panels are responsible for ensuring the optimum combination 
of whole life cost and quality.  

10.5 The Award Criteria must not include: 

• Non-commercial Considerations 

• matters which discriminate against suppliers from the European Economic 
Area or signatories to the Government Procurement Agreement 

• matters which are anti-competitive within the meaning of the various Local 
Government Acts. 

     

Page 169



 

Page 13 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

 

S ECT ION  3  

S t a r t i n g  t h e  p r o c u r eme n t  p h a s e  

     

11 PROCESS, ADVERTISING AND APPROVED LISTS 

11.1 Officers will use the methods for selecting potential bidders for either quotations 
or tenders as set out in Table 11.1 immediately below. 

Estimated 
Value 

Works Supplies Services Consultants 

Under £20,000 An existing 
framework 
agreement; or  

The Constructionline 
database 

(specialist works 
through a select list 
process)  

Existing framework agreement set up by a Central 
Purchasing Body 

or 
An Approved List  

or 
advertisements appearing in trade or other recognised 
journals (if applicable);  

 
£20,000 but no 
more than 
£100,000 

Existing framework agreement set up 
by a Central Purchasing Body 

or 
Select List  (e.g. advertise the 
opportunity) 

or 
Approved List 

An existing 
framework 
agreement set 
up by a Central 
Purchasing Body 
or 
Approved List 
or 
Select List 
 

 

£100,000. or 
more (except 
those listed 
below) 
 

An existing framework agreement set 
up by a Central Purchasing Body, or  
Select list  
 
 

Greater than EU 
Threshold for: 
Supplies & 
Services only 
(£173,934)  

  An existing framework agreement set up by a Central 
Purchasing Body, or  
Select list – must include an OJEU Contract Notice  
(except for non-regulated services covered under Part B). 
 

Greater than the 
EU Threshold: 
Works only 
(£4,348,350) 

Usually a select list 
(including an OJEU 
Contract Notice), 
otherwise an existing 
framework agreement 

   

 

11.2 Where a contract notice is published the minimum requirement is the 
“capitalEsourcing” Portal (or any other Portal that the Council may from time to 
time use).  Publication may also be required in the OJEU and depending upon its 
complexity the TAP may recommend placing a notice in a trade journal.  Where 
there is a statutory requirement for a Contract Notice to be published in OJEU no 
corresponding Contract Notice shall appear in any UK publication (including the 
“capitalEsourcing” Portal) before the date of despatch for publication in OJEU.   

table 11.1. 

Page 170



 

Page 14 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

11.3 The TAP and appropriate Chief Officer shall be responsible for ensuring that all 
persons or bodies invited to tender for the supply of goods, services or works to 
the Council have been suitably assessed and meet the Council’s minimum 
standards in terms of : 

• technical ability and capacity to fulfil the requirements of the Council; 

• economic and financial standing; 

• insurance cover; 

• quality assurance 

• professional & business standing 

• meeting statutory requirements of the Equality Act 2010  

• meeting statutory requirements of Health & Safety legislation; and 

• environmental management. 
The assessment needs to be proportionate, based upon the value of the contract 
and the risks involved. 

11.4 This may be achieved in respect of all contracts by selecting firms who have met 
the requirements of CSO 11.3 above: 
(a) the use of Constructionline as the preferred database for all construction 

related contracts (up to the EU threshold)  
(b) an Approved List compiled following responses to a public advertisement 

(preferred method for recurrent low value consultancy commissions), or 
(c)  for other low value service and supply contracts only (below £20,000), from 

organisations who have advertised their products in appropriate trade 
journals (including “Yellow Pages”); or 

(d) a “Select List” of shortlisted Candidates assessed from expressions of 
interest in a particular contract submitted in response to a Contract Notice 
(public advertisement) using the either the restricted or open procedure (or 
for complex procurements either the competitive dialogue or negotiated 
procedure). 

 (e) a Framework Agreement (e.g. Government Procurement Service)  
Paragraphs (a) and (c) relate to contracts whose estimated values are below the 
EU thresholds.  In both cases, a minimum number of quotation or tenders should 
be sought and obtained – as set out in CSO 12.3.  Where EU thresholds apply in 
relation to (d), verification is needed that the appropriate EU Procedures have 
been complied with. 

11.5 Where a restricted process is used (either through the use of Constructionline, an 
Approved List or a Select List) or where quotations or tenders are sought from 
organisations advertising in trade or other recognised journals, then the minimum 
number of tenderers invited to tender shall be as set out in the table set out in 
12.3 below. 

     

12 COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS FOR PURCHASE, DISPOSAL AND 
PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS 

12.1 The Officer must calculate the estimated Total Value.  The following procedures 
apply where there are no other procedures that take precedence. Other 
procedures may include agency/framework agreements with other public sector 
organisations (e.g. Government Procurement Service – formerly Buying 
Solutions). If in doubt, Officers must seek, in writing, the formal advice of the 
Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy. 

12.2 Chief Officers shall be responsible for planning all tendering exercises.  However, 
the appropriate Cabinet Member shall be responsible for approving the relevant 
Business Case/Procurement Strategy at the beginning of the procurement 
process for all tenders regarding services where the estimated value exceeds 

Page 171



 

Page 15 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

£1,000,000.  Such Business Cases/Procurement Strategies will set out the 
frequency of interim reports to Cabinet Members on the procurement process. 

12.3 With the exception outlined in CSO 12.4, the purchasing/competition 
requirements set out in table 12.3 (except where a Framework Agreement, 
shared service or collaborative procurement is being considered): where the 
Total Value for a purchase falls within the values in the first column below, the 
Award Procedure in the second column must be followed.  Shortlisting shall be 
approved by the persons specified in the third column. 

 

Maximum 
Total estimated 
Value 

 

Competition requirement Shortlisting Contract Award 
Procedure. (total 
contract value 
threshold) 

Under  £5,000  One Quotation (confirmed in writing using a 
designated electronic system), although the 
duty to obtain value for money still remains. 
 

Not applicable Less than 
£20,000. 
 
Chief Officer’s 
responsibility (may 
be delegated). 
 
 

£5,000 to below 
£20,000 

Invitation to Quote as set out in CSO 14.2.   
A minimum of 3 written quotations should 
be sought7 (using a designated electronic 
system) 
 

Officer & Line 
Manager 
 

£20,000 to 
below £100,000 

Invitation to Quote as set out in CSO 14.2.   
A minimum of 3 written quotations (or 
tenders) should be sought (using a 
designated electronic system). 
 

TAP8   £20,000 or greater 
but less than 
£100,000  
------------- 
Cabinet 
Member(s) 
responsible for 
award. 
 

£100,000. or 
more but less 
than £173,934 
 

Invitation to Tender as set out in CSO 14.2. 
A minimum of 3 tenders should be sought. 
 
 

TAP  £100,000 
-------------- 
Cabinet 
responsible for 
award, subject to 
the exemptions 
set out in CSO 
12.6 below 
 

£173,934 or 
greater 

Invitation to Tender as set out in CSO 14.2.  
A minimum of 5 tenders should be sought, 
if the Restricted Procedure  is used 
 
 

TAP  

12.4 The exception referred to in CSO 12.3 relates to the award of contracts relating to 
expenditure in connection with the Council’s obligations under the Local 
Government Pension Scheme which are reserved for the Audit Pensions and 
Standards Committee. 

12.5 The Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy will be responsible for the opening 
of all tenders and quotations that have been submitted electronically through the 
e-tendering system.  Only those exceptional tenders that are submitted on paper 
and have an estimated value in excess of the EU Threshold for Supply & 

                                            
7
 If less that 3 quotations are to be obtained prior approval to the suspension of the requirement must be obtained 

in accordance with section 3 on waivers and exemptions. 
8
 TAP – Tender Appraisal Panel 

table 12.3 

Page 172



 

Page 16 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Services contracts will be directed to the Mayor’s Office to be opened by the 
Mayor, Deputy Mayor or Chief Whip. 

12.6 The Contract Award Procedures set out in CSO 12.3 above may be waived for all 
new contracts or renewals which are reported to Cabinet as either part of the 
Capital or Planned Maintenance Programme, or other major revenue contracts, 
provided that the proposed programme for tendering the schemes is approved as 
a Key Decision.  The Key Decision must be made prior to the commencement of 
the tendering procedure.  The report to Cabinet may be part of the regular 
financial monitoring reports and must include a realistic estimation of the costs.  
The award decision is then delegated to Cabinet Members as set out in CSO 
12.5.1 below. 

12.6.1 In such cases, where an open and transparent tendering exercise has been 
completed and the tendered sum is within budget then the contract can be 
awarded by  

• the relevant Cabinet Member(s) where the value is £100,000 or more but 
less than £1,000,000; or 

• the relevant Cabinet Member(s) and the Leader of the Council where the 
value is £1,000,000 or more but less than £5,000,000.  

For avoidance of doubt, where the tender recommended for acceptance is above 
the previously agreed budget procedures set out in paragraph 12.3 above will 
apply. 

12.7 Where the tender recommended for acceptance is more than 15% below the 
budget a report to the Cabinet Member shall be required explaining the reasons 
for the difference and confirm that the contractor has provided written 
confirmation that they are able to fulfil the contract for their tendered sum.   

12.8 An Officer must not enter into separate contracts, nor select a method of 
calculating the Total Value, in order to avoid the requirements of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2006 (EU Procedures) or to minimise the application these 
CSOs (otherwise known as disaggregation)9. 

12.9 Where the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 apply and tendering under an EU 
Procedure is required, the Officer (Line Manager or Chief Officer) shall consult 
the relevant guidance on the EU public procurement set out in the Purchasing 
Guides and formally consult with the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy to 
determine the appropriate method of conducting the purchase. 

12.10 Where no pre-existing disposal arrangements are in place (or have been agreed, 
disposals of assets must be carried out in accordance with Financial Regulations.  
Usually this will involve the relevant items being sent to public auction (and in 
most instances contain a reserve value placed on them), except where better 
value for money is likely to be obtained by inviting Quotations and Tenders. In the 
latter event, the method of disposal of surplus or obsolete stocks/stores or assets 
other than land must be formally agreed with the Executive Director of Finance & 
Corporate Governance. 

12.11 Providing services to external purchasers must be in compliance with the Local 
Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 and/or the Local Government Act 
2003. Cabinet Member approval must be sought for the provision of services to 
other public bodies where the value is in excess of £100,000, and a 
recommendation from Cabinet to the Council is needed for approval to develop a 
business case for trading with the private sector. 

                                            
9
 Regulation 8(19) Public Contracts Regulations 2006 

Page 173



 

Page 17 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

12.12 Best Value and partnership arrangements are subject to all UK and EU 
procurement legislation and must follow these CSOs.  If in doubt, Officers must 
seek the formal advice of the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy in writing. 

12.13 Prior to commencing a procurement exercise involving the use of either the 
Competitive Dialogue or Negotiation procedure a Cabinet Member Decision must 
be obtained from the relevant Cabinet Member(s) and the Leader, acting on 
advice from the Bi-borough Director of Law and the Director for Procurement & 
I.T. Strategy. 

     

13 SHORTLISTING 

13.1 Any Shortlisting must have regard to financial and technical standards relevant to 
the contract and may have regard to Award Criteria. Special rules apply in 
respect of the EU Procedure (advice from the Director for Procurement & I.T. 
Strategy should be sought).   

13.2 The Officers responsible for Shortlisting are specified in the table CSO 12.3. 

13.3 Where pre-qualification is used as a means of selecting the tender list, the 
shortlisting requirements must comply with the Regulations 23-35 of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2006 (as amended) for all Works, Supply and Service 
(Part A) contracts that are above the EU Thresholds.  For all de minimus 
quotations and tenders and Part B Services, the principles of these regulations 
should be observed, although they need not be as restrictive. 

13.4 Pre-qualification should be based upon the principles of obtaining historical 
information – experience, references, technical & professional abilities, the 
organisational structure, economic & financial standing.  It normally forms the first 
part of a two stage procurement process (the information to be sought is always 
“backward looking”).  Information sought at pre-qualification cannot be re-sought 
(or re-used) at tendering stage.  Officers must provide to all applicants a clear & 
transparent methodology on the selection criteria to be used. 

13.5 In accordance with CSO 8.10 the TAP shall arrive at a consensus decision on 
which candidates to invite to tender. 

     

14 INVITATIONS TO TENDER/QUOTATIONS 

14.1 Where a contract is to be awarded on the basis of the most economically 
advantageous tender, the TAP shall agree prior to the issuing of the tenders (or 
quotations) an appropriate evaluation model and award criteria.  Tenderers will 
be informed of the evaluation model and award criteria in the “Invitation to 
Tenderers” and the subsequent evaluations must be carried out in accordance 
with them. 

14.2 The Invitation to Tender shall state that no Tender will be considered unless it is 
received by the date and time stipulated in the Invitation to Tender.  No Tender 
delivered in contravention of this clause shall be considered. 

14.3 All Invitations to Tender shall include the following: 
 a) A specification that describes the Council’s requirements in sufficient detail 

to enable the submission of competitive offers, along with the contractual 
terms and conditions. 

 b) A requirement for tenderers to declare that the tender content, price or any 
other figure or particulars concerning the Tender have not been disclosed 

Page 174



 

Page 18 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

by the tenderer to any other party (except where such a disclosure is made 
in confidence for the purpose of complying with tendering requirements) 

 c) A requirement for tenderers to complete fully and sign all tender documents 
including a form of tender and certificates relating to canvassing and non-
collusion.  The Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy shall agree the 
appropriate protocols to be used where a tendering exercise is being 
undertaken using an e-tendering arrangement. 

 d) Notification that tenders are submitted to the Council on the basis that they 
are compiled at the Candidate’s expense. 

 e) A description of the Award Procedure and, unless defined in a the Contract 
Notice or other prior advertisement, a definition of the Award Criteria in 
objective terms (including the appropriate weightings) (see CSO 14.1). 

 f)  The method by which any arithmetical errors discovered in the submitted 
tenders is to be dealt with. In particular, whether the overall price prevails 
over the rates in the tender or vice versa, or whether the Contractor shall 
be given the opportunity to make a correction. 

14.4 The Invitation to Tender or Quotation must state that the Council is not bound to 
accept any Quotation or Tender. 

14.5 All Candidates invited to Tender or quote must: (a) be issued with the same 
information, (b) at the same time and (c) subject to the same conditions. Any 
supplementary information must be given on the same basis. 

     

15 SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS 

15.1 Period for Candidates’ response:  Candidates invited to respond must be given 
an adequate period in which to prepare and submit a proper Quotation or Tender, 
consistent with the urgency of the contract requirement.  Normally at least four 
weeks should be allowed for submission of Tenders.  The Public Contracts 
Regulations 2006 setting out EU tendering procedures lays down specific time 
periods for tender returns. 

15.2 Unless otherwise agreed by the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy, all 
quotations and tenders must be received though the Council’s e-tendering 
system  (the rules for the return of paper based quotations and tenders will be 
determined on an individual basis by the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy) 

15.3 Any quotation or tender received after the date and time for its return cannot and 
must not be accepted .  Late tenderers will be advised that their tender has been 
rejected because it was received after the date and time scheduled for its return. 

15.4 The Officer must not disclose the names of Candidates to any staff not involved 
in the receipt, custody or opening of Tenders.  

15.5 The electronic opening of tenders shall be carried out by the person appointed by 
the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy in the presence of an independent 
client-side witness. 

     

16 CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES AND POST-TENDER NEGOTIATION 

16.1 Providing clarification of an Invitation to Tender to potential or actual Candidates, 
or seeking clarification of a Tender, whether in writing or by way of a meeting, is 
permitted.   

16.2 In particular post-tender negotiation must not be conducted in an EU Procedure 
where this might distort competition, especially with regard to price. Such 

Page 175



 

Page 19 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

negotiation is not permitted under Public Contracts Regulations 2006.  However, 
Officers (under instructions from a TAP) may seek clarifications from tenderers. 

16.3 Post-tender clarification must only be conducted in accordance with the guidance 
issued by the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy and the Bi-borough 
Director of Law, both of whom who must also be consulted wherever it is 
proposed to enter into such post-tender clarifications.   

16.4 Where tenders are received above the approved budget, the Officer may 
consider adjusting the specification and the Candidates may be asked to re-cost 
based on an amended specification in order, to bring the cost within budget.  
However, where it is identified that there needs to be a fundamental change to 
the specification (or contract terms), the contract must not be awarded but 
retendered in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 (as 
amended). 

     

17 EVALUATION AND AWARD OF CONTRACT 

17.1 In accordance with CSO 8.10 the TAP will take responsibility for the evaluation of 
all tenders received. 

17.2 The confidentiality of Quotations, Tenders and the identity of Candidates must be 
preserved at all times, and information about one Candidate’s response must not 
be given to another Candidate.  Where questions are received prior to the return 
of tenders, then the Project Officer shall anonymise both the question(s) and 
response(s) and forward to all tenderers for information, unless the questions are 
tenderer-specific. 

17.3 In accordance with CSO 14.1. where a contract is to be awarded on the basis of 
the most economically advantageous tender received, the evaluations must be 
carried out in accordance with the pre-published evaluation model and award 
criteria. 

17.4 The arithmetic in compliant Tenders must be checked. If arithmetical errors are 
found they should be notified to the tenderer, who should be requested to confirm 
or withdraw their Tender.  Alternatively, if the rates in the Tender, rather than the 
overall price, were stated within the Invitation to Tender as being dominant, an 
amended Tender price may be requested to accord with the rates given by the 
tenderer. 

17.5 Chief Officers shall ensure that submitted tender prices or rates are compared 
with any pre-tender estimates and that any discrepancies are examined and 
resolved satisfactorily.  Details of correspondence needs to be kept on the project 
file, and this information needs to be recorded in decision award reports (to Chief 
Officers, Cabinet Member Decisions or Cabinet Reports). 

17.6 Where the Council has applied a quality-price award criteria it has a statutory 
duty to inform the unsuccessful candidates of the relative advantages of the 
successful tenderer.  This is usually carried out as part of the statutory cooling-off 
period after the award decision has been made.  For tenders that are subject to 
the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 (as amended) there are strict rules that 
the Council must comply with and advice on their application must be sought 
from the Director for & I.T. Strategy and/or the Bi-borough Director of Law. 

17.7 As soon as possible after the contract has been awarded the Council must send 
a contract award notice to the Official Journal of the European Union.  In 
accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 (as amended) this must 

Page 176



 

Page 20 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

be done within 48 days.  The only exception is any contract that is below the EU 
threshold.  

     

18 RECORDS AND DEBRIEFING CANDIDATES 

18.1 The Public Contracts Regulations 2006 (regulations 32(14) & 32(15)) imposes 
specific record-keeping duties on the Council.   

18.2 Where the total value is less than £20,000, it is a requirement that the following 
documents must be kept: 

• invitations to quote and Quotations received 

• a written record of: 

• any exemptions which apply and reasons for them 

• the reason, if the lowest price is not accepted 

• all communications with the successful Candidate. 

18.3 Where the total value is £20,000 or greater, the Officer must record the following 
information - 

• the subject matter and value of the contract, framework agreement or 
dynamic purchasing system 

• details of the successful candidate(s) and the reason why it/they were 
awarded the contract, framework agreement or admitted to the dynamic 
purchasing system. 

• details of the rejected candidate(s), and the reason(s) for rejection. 

• the method for obtaining tenders (see CSO 11.1) 

• any Contracting Decision and the reasons for it 

• any exemption under CSO 3 together with the reasons for it  

• the Award Criteria 

• tender documents sent to and received from Candidates 

• pre-tender market research 

• clarification (and where appropriate post-tender negotiation) (to include 
minutes of meetings) 

• the contract documents 

• post-contract evaluation and monitoring 

• written records of communications with Candidates and with the successful 
Candidate(s). 

18.4 Written records required by this CSO must be kept for six years (12 years if the 
contract is under seal) after the final settlement of the contract.  

18.5 Documents which relate to unsuccessful Candidates should be kept for a 
minimum period of 12 months, provided there is no dispute about the award 
(these may be microfilmed or electronically scanned or stored by some other 
suitable method).  

18.6 Where a tendering exercise is regulated by the provisions of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2006 (as amended), Candidates must be simultaneously notified (in 
writing) and as soon as possible after any decision has been made in connection 
with their exclusion from the process or the outcome of the award decision is 
known.  The process is set out in Regulations 29A, 32 and 32A of the 
Regulations and must be strictly adhered to.  The process shall be communicated 
in writing only and at no time will any officer of the Council be engaged in a verbal 
debrief with the unsuccessful candidates. 

18.7 Where a tendering exercise is not regulated by the Public Contracts Regulations 
2006 (as amended) and where a Candidate requests in writing the reasons for a 

Page 177



 

Page 21 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Contracting Decision, the Officer must give the reasons in writing within 15 
working days of the request  

    

S ECT ION  4  

Do c ume n t a t i o n  &  o t h e r  f o rm a l i t i e s  
 
19 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

19.1 All Relevant Contracts shall be in writing, and in a format approved by the Bi-
borough Director of Law. 

19.2 All Relevant Contracts, irrespective of value, shall clearly specify: 

• the works, goods, materials or services to be carried out, furnished or 
provided (description and quality) 

• the price or rates to be paid, together with a statement of any discounts or 
other deductions (amount and timing) which apply, and 

• the time, or times, within which the contract is to be performed 

• all other contractual terms, which will be based upon: 
§ the Council’s standard terms & conditions (for quotations); or 
§ standard terms and conditions issued by a relevant professional body 

(e.g. JCT or NEC in relation to construction related works); or  
§ bespoke terms & conditions drafted by the Bi-borough Director of Law.  

19.3 In addition, every Relevant Contract of purchase over £50,000 must also as a 
minimum state clearly: 

• that the contractor may not assign or sub-contract without prior written 
consent of a Chief Officer (and where it is a “sub-contract”, written consent 
of a contract administrator)  

• any insurance requirements 

• health and safety requirements 

• ombudsman requirements 

• Freedom of Information Act obligations 

• Civil Contingencies Act 2004 requirements 

• data protection requirements, if relevant 

• that charter standards are to be met, if relevant 

• equalities and other diversity related requirements 

• (where agents are used to let contracts) that agents must comply with the 
Council’s CSOs relating to contracts 

• a right of access to relevant documentation and records of the contractor 
for monitoring and audit purposes, if relevant. 

19.4 The formal advice of the Director for Procurement & I.T. Strategy must be sought 
for the following contracts: 

• where market testing of Council services is being considered 

• where the Total Value exceeds £100,000 (except for construction related 
contracts, in which case such advice should be sought only where the Total 
Value exceeds £1,000,000) 

• those involving leasing arrangements 

• those which are complex or considered high risk in any other way 

19.5 Where it is proposed to use a supplier’s own terms, the agreement of the Bi-
borough Director of Law must be sought in relation to any terms and conditions 
which differ from the Council’s standard terms. 

Page 178



 

Page 22 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

 
19.6 Contract formalities 

19.6.1 Contracts and agreements shall be entered into in accordance with the following 
table  - table 19.6.1 - (subject to delegated financial limits) 

Contract value or 
notional value attached 
to the agreement 

Procedure 

Below £50,000 Contract or agreement to be signed by the Officer’s Line 
Manager, providing there is delegated authority from their Chief 
Officer, otherwise to follow the procedure below. 

£50,000 and above but 
below £100,000 

Contract or agreement to be signed by the Chief Officer (or their 
nominated deputy in accordance with CSO 2.3), otherwise to 
follow the procedure below. 

£100,000 and above Contract or agreement to be executed by the Bi-borough 
Director of Law as a Deed and stored by Legal. 

19.6.2 Where:  
(a) for operational reasons a Chief Officer considers it appropriate for a 

contract or agreement to be entered into on the basis of a Deed; or 
(b) the price paid or received under the contract is a nominal price and does 

not reflect the value of the goods or services; or 
(c) where there is any doubt about the authority of the person signing for the 

other contracting party 
the Bi-borough Director of Law will arrange for the document to be sealed on 
behalf of the Council. 

19.6.3 The person responsible for executing a contract or agreement must ensure that 
the person(s) signing it on behalf of the contractor, supplier or service provider is 
empowered to do so. 

19.6.4 The execution of a contract as a Deed shall be carried out by the Bi-borough 
Director of Law on behalf of the Council and by the Contractor in accordance with 
the relevant legal provisions.  The Council’s seal must not be affixed without the 
authority of the Cabinet (or Cabinet Member or Chief Officer acting under 
delegated powers).  

19.6.5 For all contracts where the actual contract value is £100,000 or more, the 
relevant contract documentation must be concluded (including the formal 
exchange of contracts) before its commencement.  In exceptional circumstances, 
and then only with the written consent of the Bi-borough Director of Law, may a 
contract commence on the basis of an exchange of correspondence.   

     

20 EXTENSIONS AND VARIATIONS  

20.1 Options to extend. 

20.1.1 Contracts may only be extended where there are provisions contained in them. 

20.1.2 Where there are no such provisions or where such provisions have already been 
exhausted then, in exceptional circumstances only, temporary arrangements may 
be sought from the current provider on existing terms and conditions to provide a 
continuation of service whilst a procurement exercise is undertaken.  Authority to 
enter into a temporary contract may be authorised by the 

table 19.6.1 

Page 179



 

Page 23 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

(a) relevant Chief Officer where the total value of is below £20,000 (subject to 
appropriate budgetary provision); 

(b) relevant Cabinet Member where the total value is £20,000 or greater but 
does not exceed £100,000 (subject to appropriate budgetary provision); or  

(c) the Cabinet where the total value is £100,000 or greater. 

20.1.3 Providing that the original award report contains provision relating to exercising 
an optional extension provision, these may be authorised by the 
(d) relevant Chief Officer where the total value of extension or extensions is 

below £20,000 (subject to appropriate budgetary provision); 
(e) relevant Cabinet Member where the total value of the extension or 

extensions is £20,000 or greater but does not exceed £100,000 (subject to 
appropriate budgetary provision); or  

(f) the Cabinet where the total value of the extension or extensions is 
£100,000 or greater. 

20.2 Variations to a contract 

20.2.1 Where minor variations are required to construction or highways related works 
that are covered by contingency sums within a contract sum they may be 
authorised by a Chief Officer subject to compliance with Financial Regulations. 

20.2.2 Where a variation to a contract is to be made that will not have service delivery 
impacts to users or residents then this may be agreed by a Chief Officer 
providing that there are no increased costs to the contractual value.  Where there 
will be an increase in the contract value then the decision is reserved to the  
(a) relevant Chief Officer where the total value of variation or variations is 

below £20,000 (subject to appropriate budgetary provision); 
(b) relevant Cabinet Member where the total value of the variation or variations 

is £20,000 or greater but does not exceed £100,000 (subject to appropriate 
budgetary provision); or  

(c) the Cabinet where the total value of the variation or variations is £100,000 
or greater. 

20.2.3 Reports seeking variations to contracts that are subject to the Regulations and 
equate to +/-10% or more for service or supply contracts or +/-15% or more for 
works must be referred to the Bi-borough Director of Law and the Director for 
Procurement & I T Strategy. 

 

     

21 PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES AND BONDS. 

21.1 Where a Candidate is a subsidiary of a parent company, and: 

• there is some concern about the stability of the Candidate; and/or 

• the Total Value exceeds £250,000, and/or 

• award is based on evaluation of the parent company, 
the Officer must consult the Executive Director of Finance & Corporate 
Governance about the use a Parent Company Guarantee. 

21.2 There is no requirement for the officer to obtain a Bond from a Candidate.  The 
Council will self-insure all contracts where significant risks are identified to 10% of 
the Total Value. 

     

Page 180



 

Page 24 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

 

S ECT ION  5  

S p e c i a l  p r o c e d u r e s  

22 ENERGY PROCUREMENT 

22.1 Due to the volatility of the energy market, prices of electricity, gas, oil & petroleum 
fluctuate on a daily basis and the sums quoted require immediate acceptance.  In 
order to achieve the best value for the Council all decisions relating to energy 
procurement including the award and/or the variation of contracts may be 
approved by the Executive Director of Finance & Corporate Governance and the 
Director for Building & Property Management.  All decisions relating to the award 
of or variation of energy related contracts will be reported to the Cabinet for 
information purposes only.  

23 APPOINTMENT OF CONSULTANTS & COUNSEL 

23.1 The engagement of consultant architects, engineers and surveyors or other 
professional consultants including Counsel shall be subject to completion of a 
formal letter, contract of appointment or brief.  Consultants shall be required to 
provide evidence of and maintain professional indemnity policies to the 
satisfaction of the relevant Chief Officer for the periods specified in the respective 
agreement. Consultants shall be selected and commissions awarded in 
accordance with the procedures detailed within these CSOs and as outlined 
below, but quotations and tenders are not required for arbitrators, adjudicators or 
mediators in connection with construction related disputes, or for counsel (see 
CSO. 4.3). 

Total Estimated Fee Method of Selection  
 

Less than £5,000 One Quotation (confirmed in writing).  . 
 

£5,000 but less than £100,000 Three written Quotations  
 

£100,000 but less that the EU 
thresholds 

Three tenders  
 

Above the EU threshold 
 

The provisions of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) will apply. 
 

 

24 SPOT CONTRACTS – ADULT SOCIAL CARE & CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

24.1 Contracts that relate to “social care” are not regulated under the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) and can be let under slightly different, but no 
less rigorous arrangements; rather than using traditional tendering 
methodologies. 

24.2 Specific rules and guidelines for these contracts will be issued by the relevant 
Chief Officer following consultation with the Bi-borough Procurement Board and 
approval from the relevant Cabinet Member.  The rules will ensure that the 
Council receives value for money in relation to all transactions.  These rules and 
guidelines must be reviewed not less than every two years.   

table 23.1 

Page 181



 

Page 25 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

24.3 Following the approval of these rules and guidelines the relevant Chief Officer will 
agree a scheme of delegation for their departments for the Spot Purchasing of 
these services where they may be required based on the maximum weekly 
number of care hours that may be authorised by certain officers. 

24.4 The relevant Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that any specific rules 
and guidelines are adhered to.  The provision of CSO 2.3 will apply to contracts 
let under this section of CSOs. 

24.5 For the purposes of this section of these CSOs, social care contracts may be 
defined as those (including supporting people services) under which the Council 
provides, or arranges to provide, practical help or care services to individuals 
within the community or in a residential setting. 

24.6 Spot Purchasing of Domiciliary Care and Residential and Nursing Care  

24.6.1 The Chief Officer of Social Services will maintain information on Domiciliary Care 
Providers and Providers of Residential and Nursing Care placements that can be 
used for the spot purchase of care services. Such providers will have met the 
minimum national standards laid down by the Care Quality Commission.  

24.6.2 Domiciliary care services and residential and nursing care may be spot 
purchased for people whose needs cannot be met through the commissioned 
services or service directly provided by the Department itself. 

    

Page 182



 

Page 26 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

 

S ECT ION  6  

Co n t r a c t  m a n a g emen t  

25 MANAGING CONTRACTS,  

25.1 Chief Officers and/or Heads of Service in sponsoring departments are to name 
contract managers for all new contracts.  All contracts must have a named 
Council contract manager for the entirety of the contract.   

25.2 Contract managers must follow the Purchasing Guides (and any other 
procedures determined from time to time by the Bi-borough Procurement 
Strategy Board). 

26 RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING 

26.1 A business case must be prepared for all procurements which involve a Key 
Decision.  Provision for resources for the management of the contract, for its 
entirety, must be identified in the business case. 

26.2 For all contracts with a value of over £100,000, contract managers must: 

• maintain a risk register during the contract period 

• undertake appropriate risk assessments and  

• for identified risks, ensure contingency measures are in place. 

27 POST-CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW 

27.1 All contracts which have a value higher than the EU Threshold limits, or which 
are High Risk, are to be subject to monthly formal review with the contractor. The 
review may be conducted quarterly if permitted by the Executive Director of 
Finance & Corporate Governance. 

27.2 In relation to all contracts that are considered to be with a value higher than the 
EU Threshold limits and/or which are considered to be of High Risk, the Bi-
borough Procurement Strategy Board may review them with a view to an audit to 
be undertaken in relation into their management.  

27.3 During the life of the contract, the Officer must regularly monitor and report on -: 

• a contractor’s performance 

• the regularity of meetings held with the Contractor 

• any risks and issues identified and how these are being addressed 

• compliance with specification and contract costs and identifying as early as 
possible any potential over-spends 

• any Best Value requirements 

• user satisfaction and risk management 

• the data quality and supplier information ensuring that it is fit for purpose. 

27.4 Where the Total Value of the contract exceeds £100,000, the Officer must make 
a written report evaluating the extent to which the purchasing need and the 
contract objectives were met by the contract. This should be done normally when 
the contract is completed. Where the contract is to be re-let, a provisional report 
should also be available early enough to inform the approach to re-letting of the 
subsequent contract. 

    

Page 183



 

Page 27 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

 

APPENDIX - Glossary of Defined Terms 
 

Defined term 

 

Definition/description 

Appropriate 
Persons 
 

A person who has the delegated powers to waive the provisions of these 
CSOs.  For a contract that has an estimated value of: 

• less than £20,000: the appropriate person will be the Client Executive 
Director  

• £20,000 or more but less than £100,000: the appropriate Cabinet 
Member(s) acting on written advice from the Client Director) 

• more than £100,000: the appropriate Cabinet Member(s) and the Leader 
of the Council. 
 

Approved List  A list of approved service providers (maintained by Directors at 
departmental level) who have expressed an interest in carrying out small 
scale professional services (usually below EU Threshold (for services).  An 
Approved List is usually set up for a specific period of time and purpose 
following a public advertisement placed in a local newspaper and on the 
Council’s internet.  Admission to the Approved List shall be on the basis that 
the Council’s minimum requirements in terms of finance, references, Health 
& Safety, diversity and environmental considerations are met.  The 
Approved List shall not contain details of schedules of rates and admission 
shall be free (in accordance with section 21 of the Local Government Act 
1988). 
 

Award Criteria The criteria by which the successful quotation or tender is to be selected 
(CSO 10). 
 

Award 
Procedure 
 

The procedure for awarding a contract as specified in CSO 12 (table 12.3) 
 

Best Value The duty on local authorities to secure continuous improvement in the way 
in which functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness, as implemented by the Council 
 

Bi-borough Means a joint arrangement between the Council and either the Royal 
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea or Westminster City Council (see also 
Tri-borough). 
 

Bi-borough 
Procurement 
Strategy Board. 
 

The Board is chaired by the Executive Director, Environment, Leisure and  
Residents’ Services and is made up of departmental representatives.  Its 
role is to provide strategic direction on procurement related issues, 
monitoring contractual renewals, procurement training of staff, and advice 

to secure value for money in the Council’s procurement activities. 
 

Business Case A document used to obtain management commitment and approval for 
investment in business change, which alters the way that suppliers are 
selected and goods and services are purchased.  It provides a framework 
for planning and management of this change and ongoing identification of 
risks. The viability of the resulting project will be judged on the contents of 
the business case. 

Page 184



 

Page 28 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Defined term 

 

Definition/description 

 
 
 

Bond A form of “insurance policy”. If the contractor does not do what it has 
promised to under a contract with the Council, the Council can claim from 
the insurer which provided the bond the sum of money specified in the bond 
(often 10% of the contract value). A bond is intended to protect the Council 
against a level of cost arising from the contractor’s failure. 
 

Cabinet 
 

The executive committee of the Council 
 

Cabinet Member 
 

One of 9 executive councillors reporting to the Cabinet, having the following 
responsibilities & portfolios: the  

• Leader of the Council, 

• Deputy Leader of the Council 

• Cabinet Member for Children and Education,  

• Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration 

• Cabinet Member for Finance 

• Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care 

• Cabinet Member for Housing,  

• Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion 

• Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents Services 
 

Cabinet Office The Cabinet Office has responsibility for all public sector procurement within 
the UK.  It works with key government departments (H M Treasury and the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG)) along with 
other interested public sector organisations to provide procurement advice. 
 

Candidate “candidate” means any person or organisation and defined as an economic 
operator that has sought an invitation to tender (or submit a quotation) or 
has been invited to take part in a restricted procedure, in a competitive 
procedure with negotiation or in a negotiated procedure without prior 
publication, in a competitive dialogue or in an innovation partnership; 

 
Central 
Purchasing 
Body 

As defined in the Public Contracts Regulations 2006, being another 
contracting authority which - 

(a) acquires goods or services intended for one or more contracting 
authorities; or 

(b) awards public contracts intended for one or more contracting 
authorities; or 

(c) concludes framework agreements for work, works, goods or 
services intended for one or more contracting authorities. 

 
Chief Officer The “Chief Executive”, in respect of the Chief Executive’s office (Bi-borough 

H&F and RBK&C) 
 
The most senior officer in a department of the Council (H&F), or a shared 
department with either or both the Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea 
(K&C) and Westminster City Council.  At the date of adoption of these 
CSOs these were: 

Page 185



 

Page 29 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Defined term 

 

Definition/description 

• Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Governance (H&F) 

• Executive Director of Housing and Regeneration (H&F) 

• Executive Director, Environment Leisure and Residents’ Services 
(Bi-borough H&F and K&C) 

• Executive Director, Transport and Technical Services (Bi-borough 
H&F and K&C) 

• Executive Director of Adult Social Care (Tri-borough) 

• Executive Director of Children’s Services (Tri-borough). 
Code of 
Conduct 

The code regulating conduct of officers issued by the Bi-borough Director of 
Human Resources. 
 

Competitive 
Dialogue 
Procedure 

Introduced by the EU Directive and Public Contracts Regulations 2006 as 
an alternative to the Open, Restricted and Negotiated Procedures.  It is less 
flexible than the Negotiated Procedure. 
 

Constructionline A list of preferred providers who have expressed an interest in carrying out 
mostly construction and engineering related works and have registered their 
details on a national database maintained by the Department for Business, 
Enterprise and Regulatory Reform. 
 

Consultant 
 

Someone employed for a specific length of time to work to a defined project 
brief, with clear outcomes to be delivered, who brings specialist skills or 
knowledge to the role.  To be used only where the Council has no ready 
access to employees with the necessary skills, experience or capacity to 
undertake the work. 
 

Contract A binding agreement made between two or more parties, which is intended 
to be enforceable at law. 
 

Contract Notice An “advertisement” published in accordance with these CSOs seeking 
expressions of interest from candidates to tender for works, supplies or 
services.  The Contract Notice must be published on the Council’s website 
and may appear in a local paper, and/or a trade or professional journal.  A 
Contract Notice must be published in the Official Journal of the European 
Union (OJEU) where the EU thresholds are exceeded. 
 

Contracting 
Decision 
 

Any of the following decisions: 

• withdrawal of invitation to tender 

• whom to invite to submit a quotation or tender 

• shortlisting 

• award of contract 

• any decision to terminate a contract. 
 

CSO[#] and 
CSOs 

CSO[#] refers to a specific Contract Standing Order [where the “hash” 
symbol (#) will be substituted for a specific paragraph number] and CSOs 
means these Contract Standing Orders. 
 

Deed This is a legal term relating to a type of contractual arrangement.  The 
execution of a contract as a “Deed” extends the statute of limitations from 6 
years to 12 years. 

Page 186



 

Page 30 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Defined term 

 

Definition/description 

 
Bi-borough 
Director of Law 
 
 
 
 

The Director of the Council having overall responsibility for the provision of 
legal advice in relation to all procurement matters. 

Director for 
Procurement & 
I.T. Strategy 
 
 

The Director of the Council having overall responsibility for the Council’s 
procurement functions. 

Discrete 
Operational Unit 
 

A unit: 

• to whom the decision to purchase (and budget) has been devolved 

• for the sole use of whom a purchase is intended, and 

• which takes a purchasing decision independently of any other part 
of the Council. 

  
Dynamic 
Purchasing 
System 
 

Defined in the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 as a type of Approved List 
where framework prices have been provided.  A dynamic Purchasing 
System must remain open to new applicants and is designed to enable 
“mini-competition” exercises to be carried out. 
 

e-procurement. A term for electronic procurement or purchasing. It refers not just to the 
purchasing process but encompasses a range of technologies that allows 
procurement processes such as the issue and receipt of tender documents, 
the issue of purchase orders and the receipt of invoices to occur 
electronically. 
 

e-procurement 
system 
 

The Civica AFP or Agresso system approved for use by the Executive 
Director of Finance and Corporate Governance for the issuing of orders and 
the receipt of invoices by the Council. 
 

e-tendering A computer based system run through the “CapitalESourcing” portal 
designed to:  

• undertake the tasks of advertising the requirement for goods or 
services, registering suppliers, and issuing and receiving tender 
documents via the internet 

• assist in the evaluation of responses to an invitation to tender. 
 

EU the European Union 
 

EU Directive Directive 2004/18/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 31 
March 2004 on the coordination of procedures for the award of public works 
contracts, public supply contracts and public service contracts. 
 

EU Procedure The procedure required by the EU Directive (and the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2006) where the Total Value exceeds the EU threshold 
 

EU Threshold The threshold at which the EU Directive must be applied.  If the Total Value 

Page 187



 

Page 31 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Defined term 

 

Definition/description 

is expected to exceed this amount, the EU procedure must be followed. 
(Until 31 December 2011 the thresholds are £173,934 (€200,000) for the 
supply of goods or services and £4,348,350 (€5,000,000) for building and 
engineering works contracts.) 
 

Financial 
Regulations 
 

The financial regulations approved by the Council and issued by the 
Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Governance. 
 
 
 

Framework 
Agreement 

A contractual arrangement (let in accordance with clause 19 of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2006) that can be up to 4 years in duration and 
provides for the Council to place individual orders for goods, or services. 
 

High Profile A high-profile purchase is one that could have an impact on functions 
integral to Council service delivery, should it fail or go wrong. 

High Risk A high-risk purchase is one which presents the potential for substantial 
exposure on the Council’s part, should it fail or go wrong. 
 

High Value A high-value purchase is where the value exceeds the EU Threshold 
values. 
 

Invitation to 
Negotiate 
 

Invitation to negotiate documents in the form required by these CSOs. 
 

Invitation to 
Tender 
 

Invitation to tender documents in the form required by these CSOs 
 

Leader, the The Leader of the Council and Chairman of the Cabinet. 
 

Line Manager 
 

The officer’s immediate superior or the officer designated by the appropriate 
chief officer to exercise the role reserved to the line manager by these 
CSOs. 
 

London 
Councils 
 

London Councils is a cross-party organisation, funded and run by all the 
councils in Greater London to work on their behalf regardless of political 
persuasion. 
 

Market, the The term “the market” is used as a means of describing organisations 
outside the Council that provide works, services or supplies that the Council 
may wish to buy. 
 

Negotiated 
Procedure 

An EU Procedure.  The Negotiated Procedure preceded by a Contract 
Notice can now only be used in exceptional circumstances, and is unlikely 
to be considered by the Council. 
 

Nominated 
Suppliers and 
Nominated 
Subcontractors 
 

Those persons or organisations specified in a main contract for the 
discharge of any part of that contract.  
 

Page 188



 

Page 32 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Defined term 

 

Definition/description 

Non-commercial 
Considerations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Non-commercial 
Considerations 
- continued. 

Matters designated as such under section 17 of the Local Government Act 
1988, i.e.: 
(a) Whether the terms on which contractors’ contract with their sub-

contractors constitute, in the case of contracts with individuals, 
contracts for the provision by them as self-employed persons of their 
services only. 

(b) Any involvement of the business activities or interests of contractors 
with irrelevant fields of government policy. 

(c) The conduct of contractors or workers in industrial disputes between 
them or any involvement of the business activities of contractors in 
industrial disputes between other persons. 

(d) The country or territory of origin of supplies to, or the location in any 
country or territory of the business activities or interests of, 
contractors. 

(e) Any political, industrial or sectarian affiliations or interests of 
contractors or their directors, partners or employees. 

(f) Financial support or lack of financial support by contractors for any 
institution to or from which the authority gives or withholds support. 

(g) Use or non-use by contractors of technical or professional services 
provided by the authority under the Building Act 1984 

 
Official Journal 
of the European 
Union 

The official publication maintained by the European Commission for the 
purposes of publishing Contract Notice and Contract Award Notices (also 
known as OJEU) 
 

OJEU See – Official Journal of the European Union 
 

Open Procedure An EU Procedure under which all candidates are invited to bid in response 
to a Contract Notice. 
 

Parent Company 
Guarantee  
 

A contract which binds the parent of a subsidiary company as follows: If the 
subsidiary company fails to do what it has promised under a contract with 
the Council, under the terms of the guarantee, can require the parent 
company to do so instead. 
 

Project Officer The officer designated by the Chief Officer (and appointed by the SRT 
and/or TAP) to deal with the Contract in question. 
 
 

Protected 
Characteristic 
 

See Public Sector Equality Duty in this list 

Purchasing 
Guides 
 

The suite of guidance documents, together with a number of standard 
documents, forms and templates, which supports the implementation of 
these Contract Standing Orders.  The guidance is published on the 
Council’s intranet and internet  
 

Public Sector 
Equality Duty 
 
 

The Public Sector Equality Duty (effective from 5 April 2011) covers the 
following groups (Protected Characteristics’): 

• Age 

• Disability 

Page 189



 

Page 33 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Defined term 

 

Definition/description 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Public Sector 
Equality Duty 
- continued 
 

• Gender reassignment 

• Pregnancy and maternity 

• Race 

• Religion or belief 

• Sex (gender) 

• Sexual orientation 

• Marriage and civil partnership (not always relevant to the duty) 
 
Those subject to the public sector equality duty must, in the exercise of their 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not.  

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.  

 
The Act states that meeting different needs involves taking steps to take 
account of disabled people’s disabilities. It describes fostering good 
relations as tackling prejudice and promoting understanding between 
people from different groups. It states that compliance with the duty may 
involve treating some people more favourably than others. 
 

PQQ or  
Pre Qualification 
Questionnaire. 
 

An application form use for admission to an Approved List or in response to 
a Contract Notice for a Select List. 
 

Prior Indicative/ 
Information 
Notice. 
 

A notice that is published in OJEU advising the market of the intention to 
start tendering within the next 12 months.  It may be used to seek the views 
from interested parties on proposed packaging arrangements. 
 

Public Contracts 
Regulations 
2006. 
 

Statutory Instrument SI 2006/5 Public Contracts Regulations effective date 
31 January 2006 (which implements the EU Directive into UK law). 
 

Quotation A quotation of price and any other relevant matter (without the formal issue 
of an invitation to tender). (The contract will be subject to the Council’s 
standard terms and conditions.) 
 

Relevant 
Contract  
 

Contracts to which these CSOs apply. 
 

Restricted 
procedure 

Pre-qualification assessment of all candidates responding to a Contract 
Notice prior to sending out an Invitation to Tender or Negotiate. 
 
 

Select list A tender list compiled following expressions of interest received from 
external organisations who have responded to an: 

• Advertisement appearing in a local news-paper and/or trade journal 

Page 190



 

Page 34 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Defined term 

 

Definition/description 

(if considered appropriate); and/or 

• Publication on the Council’s website; and/or 

• OJEU Contract Notice (except for non-priority [Part B] services – a 
Voluntary OJEU Contract Notice may be considered), if the 
estimated value is above EU threshold 

 
 

Shortlisting Where Candidates are selected: 

• to quote or bid, or 

• to proceed to final evaluation. 
 

Supervising 
Officer 

The Line Manager’s immediate superior. 
 

TAP -see Tender Appraisal Panel. 
 

Tender 
documents 

Documents issued by the Council specifying what it wishes to purchase, the 
contractual terms and conditions for the tender and instructions for 
responding with bids. 
 

Tender 
 
 

A tenderer’s proposal submitted in response to an invitation to tender. 
 

Tender 
Appraisal Panel 
(TAP) 
 

A panel constituted to manage all tendering processes (as defined in CSO 
7.6).   
 

Tender Record 
Book 
 

The log kept by the Mayor’s Secretary to record details of tenders. 
(made up of the tender opening forms) 

Tenderer ‘tenderer’ means an economic operator that has submitted a tender 
 

Total Value The whole of the value or estimated value (in money or equivalent value) for 
a single purchase or disposal excluding VAT. 

• Whether or not it comprises several lots or stages. 

• To be paid or received by the Council or a discrete operational unit 
within the Council. 

The Total Value shall be calculated as follows: 
(a) Where the contract is for a fixed period, by taking the total price to 

be paid or which might be paid during the whole of the period. 
(b) Where the purchase involves recurrent transactions for the same 

type of item, by aggregating the value of those transactions in the 
coming 12 months. 

(c) Where the contract is for an uncertain duration, by multiplying the 
monthly payment by 48. 

(d) For feasibility studies, the value of the scheme or contracts which 
may be awarded as a result. 

(e) For nominated suppliers and sub-contractors, the total value shall be 
the value of that part of the main contract to be fulfilled by the 
nominated supplier or sub-contractor. 

(f) Where an in-house service provider is involved, by taking into 

Page 191



 

Page 35 ©London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham.   draft v.001 2014 
 

Defined term 

 

Definition/description 

account redundancy and similar/associated costs. 
 

Trade 
advertisement 
 

Suppliers or services providers who have placed advertisements in 
reputable trade journals, magazines and publications (including local Yellow 
Pages, Thompson Directory, & etc). 
 

Tri-borough 
(councils) 

Means a joint working arrangement between the Council, the Royal 
Borough of Kensington & Chelsea and Westminster City Council. (See also 
Bi-borough) 
 

Tri-borough 
Procurement 
Protocol for 
Joint Contracts. 
 

A decision has been made by the Tri-borough councils to share services 
and collaborate where it is in the best interest of each borough to do so. 
This includes aggregating third party expenditure on the procurement of 
goods, construction works and services. The Protocol requires officers 
responsible for procurement to explore the opportunity for collaboration as a 
matter of course and seek direction from the relevant Service Director where 
this is considered not to be in the best interest of the Council. 
 

Tri-borough 
Procurement 
Code. 
 
 

This is a set of mandatory rules agreed by the Tri-borough councils which 
shall be followed by all service directorates in conducting all Tri-borough 
procurement and contracting activity above agreed financial thresholds. 

UK United Kingdom 
 

Value for money 
 

Value for money is not the lowest possible price; it combines goods or 
services that fully meet the Council’s needs, with the level of quality 
required, delivery at the time you need it, and at an appropriate price. 
 

 
                                            
 
 

Page 192



REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION JULY 2014 APPENDIX 2 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS  
 
 

CONSTITUTION  
SECTION 
 

RELEVANT SUB-SECTION PROPOSED CHANGES 

Part 3 – Responsibilities for Functions 
 

Schemes of 
Delegation – Chief 
Executive  
 

Introductory rubric Add: “The Chief Executive may make any decision which is 
delegated to any Executive Director or Director.” 
 
Rationale:  A provision to enable the Chief Executive to take any 
decision which is delegated to a particular Chief Officer or Director 
where reorganisation or absence necessitates changing the officer 
responsible for the making the decision.  
 

General Scheme of 
Delegation to Officers 
and Schemes of 
Delegation – Bi-
Borough Executive 
Director of Transport 
& Technical Services 
and Tri-Borough 
Director of Public 
Health 

Delegated powers relating to 
Town and county Planning and 
Environmental Health  

Deletion of duplicated powers within Schemes of Delegation and 
reallocation of powers between Directorates. 
 
Rationale: To remove duplications and to reflect changes in 
organisational structure.    

 

P
age 193



 
 

SPECIAL MOTION NO. 1 – LABOUR’S MANSION TAX 

 

 
 
Standing in the names of: 
 
 (i) Councillor Charlie Dewhirst  
 
 (ii) Councillor Rob Largan 
 
 
“The Council notes the recent proposals announced by Ed Balls MP, Shadow Chancellor, 
for a “Mansion Tax” on homes valued over £2m. It also notes that over 50% of all 
individuals who would have to pay such a tax nationally are within just five London 
Boroughs including Hammersmith & Fulham.   
  
The Council recognises that due to significant increases in local property prices, large 
numbers of residents living in average family homes, including many on low  incomes, 
will be hit by this tax, paying bills starting from £20,000 per year. It recognises that this 
policy, if implemented, could lead to many local people being forced to move out of the 
borough. 
  
This Council deplores this ideologically led warfare against property ownership and 
resolves to oppose these proposals.” 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 194

Agenda Item 7.1



 
 

SPECIAL MOTION NO. 2 – TRADE UNIONS 

 

 
 
Standing in the names of: 
 
 (i) Councillor Harry Phibbs  
 
 (ii) Councillor Greg Smith 
 
“This Council recognises that for trade unions to be free and independent they should be 
financed by their members rather than the state. 
 
Therefore this Council resolves that: 
 
(1) While the Council should be flexible in allowing staff to spend time working for trade 

unions, Council staff will not be paid for any time they spend on trade union activity. 
 

(2) The collection of membership subscriptions will be a matter for the trade unions 
themselves rather than something the Council is involved with via the payroll system. 

 
(3) The Council should cease providing office accommodation to trade unions on 

Council premises at below market rents.” 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 195

Agenda Item 7.2



 
 

SPECIAL MOTION NO. 3 – HOMES FOR RESIDENTS NOT OVERSEAS INVESTORS 
 

 
 
Standing in the names of: 
 
 (i) Councillor Andrew Jones  
 
 (ii) Councillor Ben Coleman 
 
 
“This Council notes the poor historic delivery of affordable housing in the 
Borough, including developments under the last Administration achieving only 0% 
affordable housing against the London Plan target of 40%.  
 
Furthermore, the Council notes that the housing crisis affects a wide range of Londoners 
from twenty- and thirty- somethings looking to get onto the property ladder to those 
seeking genuinely affordable homes to rent. 
 
The Council therefore resolves to review, as a matter of urgency, the Local Plan in order 
to deliver much greater levels of truly affordable housing for residents to rent and for 
residents to buy.” 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 196

Agenda Item 7.3



 
 

SPECIAL MOTION NO. 4 – CUTTING WASTE AND DELIVERING BETTER VALUE 
 

 

 
 
Standing in the names of: 
 
 (i) Councillor Max Schmid  
 
 (ii) Councillor Michael Cartwright 
 
 
“The Council agrees with the new administration’s decisions to close down expensive 
propaganda magazines, stop the former administration’s practice of hanging vanity 
banners from lamp posts and cut the wasteful expenditure on food at council meetings.  
 
It further notes the new revenues being generated from selling sponsorship on banners 
and agrees with the tougher and more effective approach to negotiating with developers.” 

 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 197

Agenda Item 7.4



 
 

SPECIAL MOTION NO. 5 – FULHAM BOYS SCHOOL 
 

 

 
 
Standing in the names of: 
 
 (i) Councillor Sue Macmillan  
 
 (ii) Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 

 
 

“The Council notes that The Conservative government designed free schools to be totally 
free of locally authorities but despite that will do all it reasonably can to support Fulham 
Boys School.” 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 198

Agenda Item 7.5



 
 

SPECIAL MOTION NO. 6 – SAVING OUR HOSPITALS  
 

 

 
 
Standing in the names of: 
 
 (i) Councillor Stephen Cowan  
 
 (ii) Councillor Rory Vaughan 
 

 
 

“The Council notes that the former administration put out literature claiming that it had 
“saved” Charing Cross Hospital and “retained” the A&E. It regrets that misleading 
propaganda and calls for a vigorous defence of Charing Cross Hospital, the borough’s 
A&E’s and local health services.” 

 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 199

Agenda Item 7.6



 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

COUNCIL 
 

23 JULY 2014 
 

SPECIAL URGENCY DECISIONS – MONITORING REPORT 
 

Report of the Leader of the Council: Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Information 
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Jane West, Executive Director of Finance and 
Corporate Governance 
 

Report Author: David Viles, Committee Co-
ordinator 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2063 
E-mail: 
David.Viles@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1   The attached report presents details of decisions taken by the Leader or 

Cabinet Members under the special urgency provisions of the Constitution 
(very urgent decision not in the Key Decisions list).  The report covers the 
period 1 January  to 30 June 2014. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1   That the report be noted. 
 
 

3. SPECIAL URGENCY PROVISIONS OF THE CONSTITUTION 
 

3.1  Rule 17 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in the Council’s 
Constitution allows for specially urgent Key Decisions which are not in the 
Key Decisions list to be taken without giving the prescribed public notice of 
five clear working days, provided the relevant Policy and Accountability 
Committee Chair agrees that the decision cannot reasonably be deferred. 

 

Page 200

Agenda Item 8.1



3.2   The Leader is required to submit reports to the Council on Executive 
decisions taken under Rule 17 during the preceding quarter. The reports 
must include the number of decisions so taken and a summary of the 
matters in respect of which those decisions are taken. There has been 
one Rule 17 decision during the last quarter.  

 
 

4. SPECIAL URGENCY DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE LEADER IN 
THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 30 JUNE 2014 

 

Decision taken and 
date 

Reason for urgency 
 

Authorisation of  payment 
to Municipal Mutual 
Insurance Limited (MMI) 
under the Scheme of 
Arrangements for 
Creditors 
     
Approval to a payment of 
£426,004, funded from the 
existing provision, to be 
made in accordance with the 
Scheme of Arrangement for 
Creditors. 
 
4 February 2014 
 

The MMI scheme of arrangement has 
been triggered and payment of a 15% 
levy of outstanding insurance claim 
liabilities is required to be received no 
later 14 February 2014. The 15% levy for 
LB Hammersmith and Fulham is 
£426,104. The 2012 – 2013 Statement of 
Accounts for H&F made provision for 
payment of 0.430M under item 26 
Provisions, Page 63 . 
 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

 

 

 

Page 201


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5.1 Question 1 - Lance Pierson
	5.2 Question 2 - Nnamdi E.S. Okoye
	6.1 Interim Budget Report
	6.2 Review of the Council's Constitution - In Year Revisions
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	7.1 Special Motion 1 - Labour's Mansion Tax
	7.2 Special Motion 2 - Trade Unions
	7.3 Special Motion 3 - Homes for Residents not Overseas Investors
	7.4 Special Motion 4 - Cutting Waste and Delivering Better Value
	7.5 Special Motion 5 - Fulham Boys School
	7.6 Special Motion 6 - Saving Our Hospitals
	8.1 Special Urgency Decisions - Monitoring Report

